Himmelfarb Health Sciences Library, The George Washington University Health Sciences Research Commons

**Doctor of Nursing Practice Projects** 

Nursing

Spring 2024

# Increasing Early Patient-Centered Advance Care Planning in an Outpatient Oncology Clinic through a Nurse-Driven Workflow: A Quality Improvement Project

Ellen LeGrand DNP, RN, OCN

Follow this and additional works at: https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/son\_dnp



# DOCTOR OF NURSING PRACTICE PROGRAM

# **A DNP PROJECT**

# TITLE:

Increasing Early Patient-Centered Advance Care Planning in an Outpatient Oncology Clinic through a Nurse-Driven Workflow: A Quality Improvement Project

STUDENT NAME: Ellen LeGrand, DNP, RN, OCN

# **DNP PROJECT PRIMARY ADVISOR**

& DNP PROJECT TEAM MEMBER(S): Karen Kesten, DNP, APRN, CCNS, CNE, FAAN; Pearl Zhou, PhD, RN; Hayley Knollman, MD; Angela DeMichele, MD, MSCE; Purva Rege, BSN, RN; Kelly McCann, BSN, RN

**DATE:** May 2024

The George Washington University

# Increasing Early Patient-Centered Advance Care Planning in an Outpatient Oncology

# Clinic through a Nurse-Driven Workflow: A Quality Improvement Project

Ellen LeGrand, DNP, RN, OCN

The George Washington University School of Nursing

May 19, 2024

DNP Primary Advisor: Karen Kesten, DNP, APRN, CCNS, CNE, FAAN

DNP Second Advisor: Pearl Zhou, PhD, RN

# **Table of Contents**

Cover Page	1-2
Table of Contents	
Abstract	6-7
Introduction	
Background and Significance	
Needs Assessment	
Problem Statement	14-15
Aims and Objectives	
Review of the Literature	
Evidence Based Practice Translation Model	
Methods	
Setting	
Population	
Participant Recruitment	
Consent Procedure	
Risks/Harms	
Costs and Compensation	

Project Interventions25-27
Inpatient OCW Workflow25
Outpatient OCW Workflow25-27
Outcomes Measured
Project Timeline
Resources Needed
Evaluation Plan
Data Analysis, Maintenance & Security
Results
Demographics
Aim #1
Aim #235
Aim #3
Discussion
Implications for Practice
Implications for Healthcare Policy
Implications for Executive Leadership
Implications for Quality/Safety40-41

# ADVANCE CARE PLANNING

Plans for Sustainability and Future Scholarship	41-42
Conclusion	42-43
References	44-58
Appendices	
Appendix A Our Care Wishes	59-62
Appendix B External/Internal Evaluations	63-64
Appendix C Evidence Table	65-74
Appendix D Methods Materials	75-88
Appendix E Data Collection Materials	
Appendix F GANTT Chart	100
Appendix G Results	

#### Abstract

## Background

Current practice for advance care planning (ACP) in oncology patients does not align with best practice, which is early, repeated, and interdisciplinary.

## Objective

The purpose of this quality improvement project was to evaluate the process, feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of a nurse-driven ACP workflow in an outpatient breast cancer clinic. The project team further sought to evaluate the impact of the workflow on advance directives and ACP notes.

#### Methodology

This project followed the Plan-Do-Study-Act quality improvement framework. Breast cancer patients seen by two outpatient physicians received an email to assess interest in completing the Our Care Wishes (OCW) advance directive. Interested patients met with trained nurses to discuss OCW. Completed advance directives were scanned into the medical record. Physicians and nurses participating in the project completed surveys including the Acceptability of Intervention Measure, Feasibility of Intervention Measure, and Intervention Appropriateness Measure. Process and outcome measures were tracked via chart review and control charts.

#### Results

Advance directives increased from 9.88% at baseline to 12.8% post-project. ACP notes increased from 17.85% at baseline to 20.43% post-project. Special cause was found at three time points post-implementation for advance directives. Of the 416 screening emails distributed, 85.8% of patients read the emails and 8.4% responded as interested. Of interested patients, 48.6% met with

the nurses. The average score on surveys sent to clinic staff on the AIM, FIM, and IAM was 20 post-project.

# **Conclusion and Implications for Practice**

In an outpatient breast cancer clinic, a nurse-driven workflow was feasible, acceptable, and appropriate. The workflow was associated with increased advance directives and ACP notes. Future cycles should expand the program, document interactions with patients bringing the advance directive from home, automate patient emails, increase patient education, and instruct patients to upload their advance directives into the medical record.

# Increasing Early Patient-Centered Advance Care Planning in an Outpatient Oncology Clinic through a Nurse-Driven Workflow: A Quality Improvement Project

Advance care planning (ACP) is a process of discussing values, goals, and medical care preferences throughout the life span, but it is typically discussed in reference to end-of-life (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Sudore et al., 2017). ACP is important in oncology patients as cancer is the second most common cause of mortality in the United States (American Cancer Society, 2022). Early, repeated, and interdisciplinary ACP for oncology patients is best practice to identify patient wishes before a crisis and to document wishes as they evolve through the disease process (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Levy et al., 2016; Peppercorn et al., 2011; Starr et al., 2019). Early ACP occurs more than 30 days prior to death (Starr et al., 2019), ideally more than 3 months before death and in the outpatient setting (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018).

An advance directive is an outcome that documents ACP. In an advance directive, patients identify a healthcare proxy and complete a living will to outline their wishes for end-oflife care (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018). Several different types of advance directives exist. Patients can complete a Physician Orders for Life-Sustaining Treatment (POLST) form, which captures cardiopulmonary resuscitation wishes and other medical interventions (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018). Five Wishes or Respecting Choices ® are other well-known options for advance directives (Aging with Dignity, 2021; MacKenzie et al., 2018). Our Care Wishes (OCW) is the standardized advance directive designed at the practice institution (Practice Site, 2023) (see Appendix A). The first several pages of the document provide education for patients. Patient can also identify a healthcare power of attorney and outline care wishes in a living will (Mea et al., 2022). The disease process can help guide ACP timing. Oncologists and patients agree that ACP should occur at three time points: initial, intermediate, and late. Initial ACP should address patient autonomy and occurs when patients feel well. Intermediate conversations occur when there is a change in the treatment plan. Final ACP occurs when the focus shifts to comfort and hospice (Peppercorn et al., 2011; Schulman-Green et al., 2018). While changes in treatment approach are within the provider scope-of-practice, initial ACP by nurses is feasible, acceptable, and effective at increasing advance directive documentation (Bakitas et al., 2017; Desai et al., 2018; Epstein et al., 2019; Feaster et al., 2023; Gilligan et al., 2017; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Nguyen et al., 2018; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Rabow et al., 2019; Schenker et al., 2015; Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). Further, patients may be more likely to initiate intermediate and late conversations with their providers after being exposed to initial nurse-driven ACP (Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). The proposed DNP project sought to initiate early, repeated, and interdisciplinary ACP through a nurse-driven OCW workflow in an outpatient clinic (Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Obel et al., 2014; Walczak et al., 2017).

#### **Background and Significance**

Current ACP practices do not align with best practice. Most patients have their first ACP discussion while inpatient within 3 months of death (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Brazee et al., 2021; Obel et al., 2014). ACP is inconsistent among physicians (Bernacki et al., 2014; Brazee et al., 2021; Obel et al., 2014; Raskin et al., 2016). In some oncology settings, 55% of patients have documented ACP, but, in others, only 1% of patients have documented ACP (Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; McDonald et al., 2017; Obel et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2018; Raskin et al., 2016).

Late ACP in the inpatient setting has negative impacts on patients. Inpatient discussions closer to death are rushed, associated with more aggressive care, and led by inpatient providers who may not have a strong relationship with the patient (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018). Oncology patients who discuss ACP inpatient are twenty times more likely to die in the hospital compared to outpatient conversations (Starr et al., 2019; Zakhour et al., 2015). Dying inpatient is not goal-concordant care. Seventy percent of Americans want to die at home (Hamel et al., 2017) while only 30% of Americans die at home (Cross & Warraich, 2019). Patients with documented ACP are more likely to receive goal-concordant care at end-of-life (Silveira et al., 2010). Outpatient ACP is associated with more advance directives, greater hospice utilization, fewer inpatient hospitalizations at end-of-life, and decreased costs by over \$20,000 at the end-of-life (Patel et al., 2018). Patients also report higher satisfaction with care after early ACP (Patel et al., 2018).

Repeated ACP is best practice because patient wishes can change over time (Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues & Institute of Medicine, 2015; Schulman-Green et al., 2018; Starr et al., 2019). Iterative conversations can be time consuming (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014). This burden must be shared amongst interdisciplinary team members. Nurses, social workers, and lay health educators can all effectively lead ACP conversations (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Boucher, 2021; Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues & Institute of Medicine, 2015; Epstein et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2018).

Patient, provider, and system barriers prevent best practice ACP. Patient barriers include lack of knowledge, stigmatization, procrastination, emotional burden, patient expectations that the provider initiate the conversation, limited health literacy, and fear of upsetting family members (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Gilligan et al., 2017; McDonald et al., 2017; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018). Provider barriers include prognostic uncertainty, communication difficulties, emotions, lack of training, lack of ownership, and uncertain ideal timing (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013). System barriers include the absence of standardized workflows, lack of standardized documentation, and life-sustaining treatment as the default (Bernacki et al., 2014; Obel et al., 2014; Raskin et al., 2016). Racial differences limit ACP's impact as racial minorities are less likely to have early ACP (Brazee et al., 2021). These barriers must be addressed to improve patient health outcomes at end-of-life. A driver diagram is available in Appendix B, Figure B1 to outline approaches to these barriers.

Targeting barriers to early ACP is essential because early ACP addresses the six components of health care quality (Institute of Medicine, 2001). ACP has been shown to decrease aggressive inpatient interventions at end-of-life (Patel et al., 2018), thereby keeping patients safe from the unnecessary harms of interventions (Institute of Medicine, 2001). Patients are more likely to receive effective and efficient treatment at end-of-life aligned with their wishes after discussing goals and values (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Institute of Medicine, 2001). ACP is patient-centered; the goal of ACP is to enhance patient autonomy (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Institute of Medicine, 2001). Having ACP discussions outpatient is a timely intervention as experts agree that early ACP is best practice (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Institute of Medicine, 2001; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Levy et al., 2016; Peppercorn et al., 2011; Starr et al., 2019). ACP is currently inequitable; minority populations are less likely to have documented early ACP than white patients (Brazee et al., 2021; Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues & Institute of Medicine, 2015; Institute of Medicine, 2001). Standardizing ACP to reach all patients could address this inequity. A systematic, early, and interdisciplinary approach to ACP could improve healthcare quality related to end-of-life.

#### **Needs Assessment**

Baseline practices at the practice institution did not align with best practices leading to poor patient outcomes at end-of-life. In 2016, 32.7% of Medicare oncology patients at the institution were admitted to the ICU in the last 30 days of life and only 8.76% of Medicare oncology patients were enrolled in hospice for more than 30 days (Dartmouth Atlas Project, 2023). In 2016, only 6% of Medicare enrollees with cancer seen at the institution had ACP coded (Dartmouth Atlas Project, 2023). A needs assessment of the organization was conducted through review of strategic plans, ACP data, shadowing in the target clinic, and interviews with nurses, nurse practitioners, and a physician. The resulting Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT) analysis identified facilitators and barriers to the proposed project (Appendix B, Figure B2).

The organization offered an environment of nursing empowerment and patientcenteredness. At the organizational level, the hematology/oncology service prioritized ACP to enhance patient-centered care in the 2018-2023 Strategic Plan (Practice Site, 2018). Further, the organization empowered nurses to complete ACP. The nursing department worked to increase nursing engagement in evidence-based practice and interdisciplinary collaboration through programs like nurse residency and a Center for Nursing Excellence (Practice Site, 2020). The Oncology Nursing Society's commitment to empowering nurses as competent professionals capable of leading ACP offered external validation that nurses could and should complete ACP (Oncology Nursing Society, 2015). While ACP was within the nursing scope of practice, 48% of surveyed oncology nurses at the institution felt uncomfortable with ACP (Danford et al., 2019). By training nurses in ACP, the project addressed the organizational weakness of nursing discomfort.

An existing inpatient program showed nurses were confident, engaged, and empowered by completing ACP conversations. The program included 28 nursing champions who collaborated with social workers to offer patients the OCW advance directive. From January 2021 to March 2023, the program had 456 referrals with 369 patient interactions, and 91 new advance directives (E. Lightheart, personal communication, March 15, 2023). The completion of advance directives nearly doubled since the beginning of the project (Mea et al., 2022). This established workflow with proven effectiveness guided implementation of the outpatient program. The inpatient program offered pre-existing documentation templates in the shared electronic health record (EHR) for outpatient use. All providers could access the standardized ACP tab in the EHR, thus facilitating collaboration. However, implementing changes to the EHR, such as clinical decision support for ACP screening, provided a challenge as the institution required proof of concept before implementing changes. The EHR offered direct messaging to patients through a portal, which was used in this project to demonstrate proof of concept.

The specific practice site offered further barriers and facilitators to change. Staffing presented the biggest barrier to change. Nurses and providers shared that clinics were short-staffed with limited time to implement new projects. Many staff members left during the COVID19 pandemic. Despite this major barrier, the clinic was an excellent place to trial nurse-driven ACP. The practice site had a high volume of patients who could benefit from ACP; each provider saw 10-45 patients per week. One nurse champion brought years of experience in hospice nursing. Providers at the clinic were trained in serious illness conversations. Palliative care clinicians were embedded in the clinic. Even with the staff's expertise in ACP, interviews

revealed ACP at the institution was inconsistent and provider-driven. Late inpatient ACP was normalized within an environment of unstructured ACP processes.

ACP within the clinic was affected by national and cultural factors. The cultural stigmatization of discussing death and the expectation for life-prolonging treatment in the United States prevented early ACP (Bernacki et al., 2014). Despite the cultural barrier, patients expected their providers to initiate ACP (Bernacki et al., 2014), which revealed an opportunity for change. The project existed within a supportive economic and policy environment. External evidence demonstrated that early outpatient ACP decreased healthcare costs, which aligned with the Triple Aim (Bond et al., 2018; Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2023; Patel et al., 2018). Numerous bipartisan bills proposed in Congress to expand ACP reimbursement and training demonstrated political support for ACP (Baldwin & Capito, n.d.; Warner et al., 2022). The proposed project sought to address barriers to best practice ACP by capitalizing on strengths and opportunities internal and external to an organization that championed patient-centered care and nurse autonomy.

#### **Problem Statement**

ACP was unstructured, inconsistently accessible to patients, addressed too late on the inpatient side, and impeded by many barriers. Baseline ACP practices led to care that was inequitable, inefficient, ineffective, unsafe, untimely, and not patient-centered (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Brazee et al., 2021; Gilligan et al., 2017; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; McDonald et al., 2017; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Patel et al., 2018; Raskin et al., 2016; Starr et al., 2019; Zakhour et al., 2015). With a national shortage of specialized palliative care providers, the primary oncology team should lead ACP (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Institute of Medicine, 2013). Instead of relying on physicians to initiate ACP, the responsibility

for ACP should shift to an interdisciplinary endeavor (Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Peppercorn et al., 2011). Nurses establish close relationships with patients. Discussing ACP with nurses removes the pressure of prognostication and allows for an open discussion of patients' goals and values (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Epstein et al., 2019) While prognostication and later ACP should still be led by physicians, it is within the nursing scope of practice to initiate ACP (Epstein et al., 2019).

This project sought to evaluate the effects of a process change related to a new nursedriven ACP workflow in an outpatient breast cancer clinic while monitoring the feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of the workflow. The project team further evaluated the impact of a nurse-driven workflow on advance directive completion and ACP notes. The following PICOT question guided the project: For adult patients (>18 years old) with cancer seen in an outpatient oncology clinic (P), do trained nurses implementing an ACP workflow (I) affect the number of advance directives and ACP notes feasibly, acceptably, and appropriately (O) compared to standard ACP practice (C) within 3 months of implementation (T)?

## **Aims and Objectives**

#### Aim #1

To determine which process factors impact the number of advance directives and ACP notes following implementation of the project.

# **Objectives**

• To demonstrate special cause from process change through control charts tracking weekly advance directives and ACP notes in the EHR from July 16, 2023 through December 31, 2023.

- To document 75% of screening emails were read by patients in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To document patient interest in nurse-led ACP meetings with at least 25% of all patients responding as interested in meeting with a nurse after receiving a screening email in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To complete in-person nurse-led ACP meetings with at least 75% of all patients who responded to the screening email with interest in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To document advance directives in the EHR with at least 25% of all patients meeting inperson with nurse champions in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To document advance directives in the EHR with 100% of all patients who completed an advance directive with nurse champions in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To document ACP notes by providers with at least 25% of all patients meeting with nurse champions having an ACP note by providers in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.

# Aim # 2

To demonstrate feasibility, intervention appropriateness, and acceptability of a nurse-driven ACP workflow in the outpatient setting.

# **Objectives**

• Nurse champions and physicians will find the project acceptable, appropriate, and feasible as measured by the Acceptability of Intervention Measure (AIM), Intervention

Appropriateness Measure (IAM), and Feasibility of Intervention Measure (FIM) at baseline in September 2023 and at the end of the project in January 2024 with a mean score of 15 on all three measures (Weiner et al., 2017). These measures will remain stable or increase throughout the study period.

#### Aim # 3

To increase the number of advance directives and ACP notes following implementation of the project compared to baseline numbers.

# **Objectives**

- To increase advance directive documentation in the EHR by 20% to 11.856% of patients in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.
- To increase ACP notes in the EHR by 20% to 21.42% of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023.

# **Review of the Literature**

A literature review was completed from January to April 2023. Studies were extracted from PubMed, CINAHL, and Scopus to summarize existing evidence about the process of nursedriven workflows. The studies also evaluated the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of nurse-driven workflows in oncology. Appropriateness was specific to the institution and was not included in the literature search. MeSH headings were not utilized after consulting with the research librarian regarding their limited applicability in this specific search. The following search strategy was applied: (oncology OR cancer\* OR malignancy) AND nurs\* AND ("advance care planning" OR "advanced care planning" OR "advance directive" OR "advanced directive" OR "medical power of attorney" OR "healthcare power of attorney" OR "living will" OR "POLST" OR "serious illness conversation" OR "goals of care" OR "goals-of-care" OR "end of life" OR "end-of-life"). Reference mining was also completed. Studies completed in the outpatient setting within the last 10 years were included.

Of the resulting articles, a total of 14 articles were appraised using the Johns Hopkins Nursing Evidence-Based Practice model and guidelines (Dang et al., 2022). The evidence included one level I good quality study, one level II good quality study, one level III high quality study, one level III good quality study, one level IV high quality study, and five level V high quality studies. The review also included three level I low quality studies and one level II low quality study. These studies were limited by their inability to meet power, a recognized challenge in a population with high death rates (Walczak et al., 2017). Methodologies included four randomized controlled trials, three quasi-experimental research studies, one phenomenological qualitative study, one consensus statement, and five quality improvement projects.

The literature contained many examples of components of process changes with nursedriven interventions. In many of the studies, the first component of a successful ACP program was training the nurses in communication skills and ACP (Bakitas et al., 2017; Desai et al., 2018; Epstein et al., 2019; Feaster et al., 2023; Gilligan et al., 2017; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Schenker et al., 2015; Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). Patient education via handouts or booklets were essential components of many interventions (Bakitas et al., 2017; Epstein et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Rabow et al., 2019; Sulmasy et al., 2017). Projects included interdisciplinary collaboration workflows so that oncologists were aware of nursing ACP meetings and could follow-up with patients (Desai et al., 2018; Epstein et al., 2019; Gilligan et al., 2017; Obel et al., 2014; Schenker et al., 2015). Other components of the workflows included screening patients for interest in ACP and templated documentation (Desai et al., 2018; Lucas &

18

Dimmer, 2021; Obel et al., 2014; Rabow et al., 2019). In the literature, 94-97% of patients found nurse-driven ACP to be acceptable with qualitative evidence supporting this finding (Epstein et al., 2019; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Rabow et al., 2019; Schenker et al., 2015).

Nurse-driven ACP was feasible with intervention fidelity of 95-100% (Schenker et al., 2015). Nurses reported ACP took 5-15 minutes on average, further supporting feasibility (Desai et al., 2018; Epstein et al., 2019). Qualitative findings further confirmed feasibility (Rabow et al., 2019). Nurse-driven ACP interventions were effective at increasing advance directive documentation. In all studies that measured advance directives, the number of advance directives increased from baseline. Baseline advance directives ranged from 0-65% with post-intervention advance directives ranging from 55%-90% (Desai et al., 2018; Feaster et al., 2023; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Obel et al., 2014). Patients were also more likely to address ACP with their providers following meetings with nurses (Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). Patients not only preferred to have ACP discussions early (Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018) but early nurse-driven ACP was also associated with decreased acute care utilization at end-of-life (Bakitas et al., 2017). Based on the literature review, nurse-driven ACP workflows were acceptable, feasible, and effective at increasing ACP documentation in the outpatient setting. An evidence table is available in Appendix C.

The evidence from this literature review was good with consistent results, though the level of evidence was low. The review was limited by few randomized controlled trials related to the PICOT question, limited generalizability, and small sample sizes. Most of the evidence came from level V studies. Because ACP supports patient autonomy, randomized controlled trials where patients in the control group had limited access to ACP was ethically challenging (Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Starr et al., 2019). Systematic reviews were also limited because there were no

consistent practices in ACP, which limited comparisons (Starr et al., 2019). Outcome measures varied as well, which also prevented comparisons (Starr et al., 2019). Thus, based on the strength and quality of the evidence, a quality improvement project was appropriate (Dang et al., 2022).

# **Evidence Based Practice Translation Model**

The Knowledge to Action (KTA) model guided implementation of the proposed EBP project (Graham et al., 2006; Graham et al., 2007). This model was selected because it was used at the practice site for EBP projects. Further, while KTA focused on research to gain knowledge, the model also included non-research evidence (Graham et al., 2006). With low quality randomized controlled trial evidence, evidence from quality improvement projects supported implementation of the EBP project.

The KTA model included two components. The first was knowledge creation through inquiry, synthesis, and tools/products (Graham et al., 2006). During the process of knowledge inquiry, the project lead evaluated internal and external evidence. The evidence was appraised and summarized in the literature review and needs assessment. The synthesis of the evidence supported implementation of a structured, nurse-driven workflow in the outpatient oncology setting. Workflows from the literature were adapted as tools for use in practice, which was the final step of knowledge creation (Graham et al., 2006). The adapted workflow was designed to address barriers to ACP identified both in the literature and in practice. Lack of healthcare professional training was addressed by training nurses in ACP communication. Uncertain timing and ownership was addressed by implementing a standardized workflow offered to all patients by nurses. This workflow included standardized documentation in the EHR. By proactively contacting patients, the expectation that the provider would initiate ACP was addressed.

The second step of the KTA model was an action cycle (Graham et al., 2006). The first step was to identify a problem or gap through literature review and practice site evaluation. For the proposed project, a practice question was developed through review of the literature and meetings with team members. The remaining steps included identifying and selecting knowledge, adapting to the local context, examining barriers, implementing interventions, examining knowledge use, evaluating outcomes, and sustaining knowledge use (Graham et al., 2007). The knowledge from the creation phase was selected for use in this project. The value of the project was confirmed by healthcare professionals at the practice, who helped adapt the knowledge to local context. Through interviews and discussions with stakeholders, which were summarized in the needs assessment, barriers and facilitators to knowledge use were analyzed. In preparation, the project lead shadowed nurses at the clinic to assess feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of the intervention. In collaboration with the practice site, an action plan was developed with methods for implementation and plans for outcome evaluation. During and after implementation, the project team monitored knowledge use through process measures. After implementation, the project lead evaluated measures, including advance directive, ACP documentation, feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness. Based on these findings, discussions about sustainability of the project occurred amongst the project team (Graham et al., 2006; Graham et al., 2007).

#### Methods

The DNP project was a quality improvement project completing the first cycle of the Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) design. Quality improvement is defined as a systematic process that affects the health outcomes of a group by addressing the underlying processes of care (Moran et al., 2020). As the project aimed to improve patient outcomes by adjusting the process of care, it

#### ADVANCE CARE PLANNING

was a quality improvement project. During the planning phase, key stakeholders identified the problem, discussed methods, and developed a plan that fit within clinic practices (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, n.d.). During the do phase, the project team implemented the workflow. During the study phase, measures were tracked in several different ways. For the outcome measures of advance directives and ACP notes and related process measures, a non-experimental pre-post design was used (Schmidt & Brown, 2022). As a QI project, all established English-speaking patients of the enrolled providers were offered participation. It was difficult to compare the group before and after the intervention via inferential statistics; the sample grew with new patients and decreased with patient deaths. Given the unpredictability of the sample size, the non-experimental design was utilized to examine the workflow process and outcome measures (Schmidt & Brown, 2022). Balancing measures of feasibility, accessibility, and acceptability were measured using a one group pretest-posttest design (Schmidt & Brown, 2022). This design was selected as the same group of healthcare professionals were surveyed before and after the project.

# Setting

The setting for this project was an outpatient breast cancer clinic in the mid-Atlantic United States. Two providers in this clinic saw an average of 30 patients/week. Visits occurred in-person at the clinic. Patient rooms were available for meeting with patients in addition to an off-stage conference room.

# Population

Intervention participants were breast cancer patients seen by two physicians in the outpatient clinic. Inclusion criteria included: age > 18 years, diagnosis of breast cancer of any stage, English speaking, and established patients being seen in-person at the clinic between

September 25, 2023 and December 31, 2023. Exclusion criteria include: age < 18 years, telehealth appointments, no breast cancer diagnosis, non-English speaking, and patients meeting with the provider for the first time. New patients were excluded due to concern from clinic staff that receiving a screening email about ACP prior to initially meeting the physician could damage the patient-provider relationship. Because this was a quality improvement study, power was not calculated as all established patients seen by the providers were included. For the balancing measures, the two physicians and their two affiliated nurses who implemented the project were surveyed about feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of the project.

## **Participant Recruitment**

A convenience sample of patients from the breast cancer clinic was included in this quality improvement project. The week prior to their scheduled appointment, patients received a screening email to gauge their interest in completing an advance directive. Patients who responded to the email met with the nurse champion during their clinic appointment. If participants expressed interest during the appointment with their provider, the provider notified the nurse of the patient's interest. The sample of providers and nurses were identified through participation in the project.

#### **Consent Procedure**

Prior to receiving healthcare services from the institution, all patients signed an annual General Consent Form. This document specifically outlined that personal health information may be used to inform healthcare operations, including evaluation of treatment and services provided to patients (Practice Site, 2021). As this project was a quality improvement study of healthcare operations, no further consent from patients was sought. Nurses and providers were consented

electronically in RedCap (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019) via a standard IRB form prior to collecting their data about feasibility, acceptability, and accountability (see Appendix D).

## **Risks/Harms**

Prior to project implementation, the practice site's IRB designated the project as quality improvement and not human subjects' research. There were minimal expected risks for patients and professionals participating in ACP conversations. The most likely harm to patients was psychological distress related to discussing end-of-life wishes. However, participation in these conversations was optional. Researchers have found that patients report decreased anxiety and depression after having an ACP discussion (Bernacki et al., 2019). Conversations were more distressing when providers are untrained (Bernacki et al., 2014), thus careful attention was given to training nurses in ACP communication. Any emotional distress was promptly reported to the physician. The clinic also had social workers and counselors available. Providers and nurses could have found ACP to be emotionally distressing. The project lead was available for debriefing and checked in with nurses weekly.

## **Costs and Compensation**

Participants were not compensated for their participation in the workflow. OCW was available to all patients free-of-cost (Practice Site, 2023). Printing costs were approximately \$16 for 14 copies of the OCW document. Healthcare professionals were paid according to their preexisting employment with the institution without any extra payment for participation. Meetings with patients were completed in-person during regular clinic hours with no overtime or extra building costs. Cost-savings were a potential long-term outcome that were not captured during this first PDSA cycle (Bond et al., 2018; Patel et al., 2018).

### **Project Interventions**

## Inpatient OCW Workflow

The outpatient workflow was an adaptation of a pre-existing inpatient OCW workflow at the practice site. In 2020, a nurse and social worker-driven workflow was implemented on inpatient oncology units. Patients were screened for advance directives at admission. If they were interested in an advance directive, patients were referred to trained nurse and social worker champions who used the document to educate patients on ACP. Patients had the option to designate healthcare powers of attorney and complete a living will (Appendix A). Unit secretaries were available to witness the document and scan it into the EHR. The champion completed a standardized note and texted the interdisciplinary team. For the adaptation of the inpatient workflow to the outpatient setting, the designers of OCW granted written approval for its use within this project (M. Van Der Tuyn, personal communication, April 13, 2023).

#### **Outpatient OCW Workflow**

See Figure D1 Appendix D for a process map of the workflow.

**Step 1:** In September 2023, the project lead conducted a 90-minute training session for two nurse champions on ACP communication and the OCW document. This training was developed by the project lead after attending a workshop from City of Hope called the Interprofessional Communication Curriculum (ICC) Project, funded by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) (City of Hope & National Cancer Institute, 2021). The training included discussion, videos, and active role play. Written approval was granted by the City of Hope for application of their training materials (H. Buller, personal communication, April 14, 2023). The training is available in Appendix D.

**Step 2:** The DNP project lead and nurse champions trained administrative assistants in scanning the advance directive into the chart.

Step 3: The DNP project lead sent standardized screening emails to patients the week prior to their appointment via the patient portal. The OCW document was linked in the email so that patients could view the document prior to their appointment. To prevent overwhelming the patients, each patient was contacted once during the project period. See Appendix D for the screening email approved by content experts at the practice site (H. Knollman, personal communication, March 29, 2023; K. McCann, personal communication, March 29, 2023). **Step 4:** The project lead notified the nurse champions if patients were interested each week. Patients who responded to the email met with the nurse champion during their clinic appointment, time permitting. Champions used the OCW booklet to educate patients about advance directives and ACP. If participants expressed interest during the appointment with their provider, the provider notified the nurse of the patient's interest or discussed the OCW document with the patient themselves. If patients completed the document, they were encouraged to take the document home to review with family and obtain witnesses to the document. Due to staffing shortages, witnesses were not available in the clinic to make OCW a legal document. Medical staff could not serve as witnesses per state law (PA General Assembly, 2006; State of New Jersey Department of Health, 2023). Thus, witnesses from home were identified as a resource to complete the OCW document.

**Step 5:** The project lead emailed patients who took the document home prior to their next appointment to remind them to bring the OCW document back to the appointment. When patients returned the document, administrative assistants scanned the advance directive into the EHR.

**Step 6:** The nurse champion completed a standardized dot phrase (.OCWACPTEMP) in the EHR to document the interaction, regardless of completion of the document. The standardized note is available in Appendix D.

**Step 6:** The RN champion notified the physician about meeting outcomes through the EHR. All concerns, particularly psychosocial concerns, were discussed with the physician.

## **Outcomes Measured**

Process, outcome, and balancing measures were collected during this project aligned with project aims (see Appendix E). For Aim #1, the study team monitored process measures to identify what factors influenced the workflow. Process measures were essential components of this quality improvement project as they elucidate if the correct actions were implemented, if the actions were timely, and if the actions were proficiently completed (Jaffe et al., 2019). As identified in Aim 1, the percentage of screening emails read by patients measured the effectiveness of screening emails in reaching this patient population. The percentage of patients who responded to the screening email with interest reflected the ability of the email to capture patient interest. The ability of nurse champions to meet with patients and document their interactions was reflected by the percentage of patients who responded as interested and had a nursing ACP note. The number of advance directives in the EHR captured the effectiveness of the training of nurse champions by demonstrating the ability to complete an advance directive with patients. It also measured the effectiveness of having patients witness the document at home and bring it back to be scanned into the medical record in the clinic by administrative assistants. To isolate the effectiveness of administrative assistants scanning the document into the chart, the project team tracked the percentage of patients with an advance directive in their chart who completed the document with nurse champions. Finally, the number of ACP notes by providers

for patients who met with the nurse champions reflected the effectiveness of interdisciplinary collaboration.

Each week, the project lead completed chart reviews of patients who received screening emails to evaluate if patients read the email, if patients responded as interested, if the RN wrote a note documenting the interaction, if the patient had an ACP note, and if the patient had an advance directive in the chart. These data were stored in RedCap (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019) and analyzed using descriptive statistics in SPSS Version 29.0 (IBM Corp, 2022).

For aim 1, weekly run charts were transformed into control charts to track the impact of the process change on advance directives and ACP notes. As this was a OI project, the analysis was process-oriented (Balestracci, 2019). The process was impacted by inputs such as the environment, people, and actions (Balestracci, 2019). In general, inputs caused normal variation in the outcomes, termed common cause variation (Balestracci, 2019). A control chart captured common cause variation over a time period and applied statistical theory to identify special cause. When a process remained within the expected upper and lower boundaries of common cause variation, it was a stable process (Balestracci, 2019). Control charts set upper and lower limits three standard deviations from the mean (Balestracci, 2019). If a team intervened with changes to the common process, variation in the process leads to special cause (Balestracci, 2019). Special cause in control charts were defined as: one point outside the upper or lower limits, at least eight consecutive points above or below the average, at least six consecutive points increasing or decreasing, fifteen successive points within one standard deviation of the mean, and two out of three consecutive data points outside of two standard deviations of the mean (NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2009). Different control charts existed based on data type. For this project a p-chart was selected to analyze attribute data without equal

28

#### ADVANCE CARE PLANNING

subgroups (NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2009). In a p-chart, the control limits were calculated based on each data point dependent on the number of patients in the weekly subgroup (NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2009).

For this project, the study team evaluated the percentage of patients with an advance directive and an ACP note starting 10 weeks prior to project implementation to establish common cause variation. The control charts were evaluated for special cause after the process for ACP and advance directives changed in the clinic with implementation of the nurse-driven workflow. Data for control charts were stored in RedCap weekly (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019) and exported for analysis in Excel (Microsoft Corporation, 2018).

For aim 2, balancing measures of acceptability, appropriateness, and feasibility were measured through the AIM, IAM, and FIM. These instruments were selected as reliable (testretest reliability coefficients 0.73 to 0.88) and valid (Cronbach-alpha 0.85 to 0.91) measures of acceptability, feasibility, and appropriateness that align with Aim 2 (Weiner et al., 2017). These measures were included to determine if the workflow fit well within the clinic without burdening clinic staff. In September 2023, the DNP project lead sent baseline surveys with AIM, IAM, and FIM to the two nurse champions and two involved physicians via RedCap (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019). The survey was also sent to the same sample of nurses and physicians in January 2024 after the project. Survey results were analyzed in SPSS Version 29.0 (IBM Corp, 2022).

Outcome measures were analyzed for aim 3. Advance directives were widely identified in the literature as outcome measures of ACP (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Patel et al., 2018; Starr et al., 2019). The nurse champions in this project actively sought to introduce ACP to patients through advance directives. ACP notes were selected as an outcome measure because nurses

#### ADVANCE CARE PLANNING

wrote ACP notes for patients they met. Further, patients are more likely to address ACP with their providers following meetings with nurses (Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). In September and October 2023, the DNP project lead collected baseline data from the EHR on the number of advance directives and ACP notes signed by nurses and providers for all patients seen by the two participating physicians from May 1, 2023 to August 31, 2023. These data established benchmark goals. At the end of the project, the project lead extracted the number of advance directives and ACP notes from the EHR for patients seen by the same two physicians from September 25, 2023 through December 31, 2023. Demographics including age, race, and cancer stage were collected in both datasets. As outcome measures, baseline and post-intervention demographics, advance directives, and ACP notes were compared using descriptive statistics. These data were collected by the project lead through chart review of the EHR, stored in RedCap (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019), and analyzed in SPSS Version 29.0 (IBM Corp, 2022). **Project Timeline** 

The project started with the development of a practice question. A needs assessment was completed through interviews with physicians, nurses, and nurse practitioners to gather internal evidence about the gap in practice. Following a literature review of external evidence, the intervention was adapted from the pre-existing inpatient program for OCW. Following IRB designation as quality improvement, the project began in September 2023. Nurses were trained in ACP communication in early September. Following training, the project lead sent screening emails to patients the week prior to appointment until late December 2023. Surveys to evaluate feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of the project were sent to participating nurses and physicians in September 2023 and January 2024. Evaluation of all measures occurred in January and February 2024. The study team discussed sustainability through future PDSA cycles. In

April 2024, findings were internally disseminated through presentation. External dissemination occurred via podium presentation at the 2024 Oncology Nursing Society Congress in April 2024. A GANTT chart for the project is available in Appendix F.

## **Resources Needed**

The human resources needed for this project within the clinic included two nurse champions, two physicians, and two administrative assistants. Outside of the clinic, the performance improvement team extracted data from the EHR. Structural resources included clinic space to meet with patients and copies of the OCW form. A printer, printer paper, and ink were required to print the OCW document, which was available in the clinic. The project lead possessed licenses for use of Statistical Package for Social Sciences Version 29.0 and Excel (IBM Corp, 2022; Microsoft Corporation, 2018). RedCap was available via the practice institution (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019).

#### **Evaluation Plan**

Data was evaluated in phases. As a quality improvement project, a run chart was completed weekly to track the number of documented advance directives and ACP notes for patients by the two study providers. The run charts started ten weeks prior to intervention to establish common cause variation (Balestracci, 2019). At the end of the project, the run charts were transformed into a p-charts to analyze attribute data with unequal subgroups (NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2009).

The study team evaluated process measures as identified in Aim 1. Process measures were compared to baseline goals established in Aim 1 and determined to be successful if they met these goals. For Aim 2, balancing measures of feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness for nurses and physicians were analyzed to inform the fit of the workflow within the clinic.

Given the small sample size, descriptive statistics were analyzed. For Aim 3, at the end of the project, descriptive statistics were generated to present the number and percentage of patients with advance directives and ACP notes at baseline and post-project (Polit, 2010).

# Data Accuracy, Maintenance & Security

For the outcome measures collected via chart review, a two-step method was used to assure accurate data entry. First, the data were pulled from the medical record via a query from the performance improvement team. Secondly, the pulled data were confirmed via chart review from the study lead including extraction of cancer stage, advance directives, and ACP notes which were not easily captured via data query. For the process measures, the project lead completed weekly chart reviews and corroborated findings via email with the nurse champions. The project lead used SPSS Version 29.0 to identify missing data, which was remedied by chart review (IBM Corp, 2022).

Members of the study team with access to de-identified data included the project lead, primary advisor, and secondary advisor who completed human subjects training. To collect baseline data, the performance improvement team pulled a list of patients seen by the two study providers from May 1, 2023 to August 31, 2023 with provider name, age, race, and ethnicity. The data was shared via Excel file (Microsoft Corporation, 2018), which was promptly uploaded to a secure, password protected RedCap database (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019). The Excel file was promptly destroyed (Microsoft Corporation, 2018). The project lead completed chart reviews to extract cancer stage, ACP notes, and advance directives. Once outcome measures were recorded, the data was de-identified within the secure, password protected RedCap database (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019). The same process was followed at the end of the study to collect post-project outcome measures from September 25, 2023 through December 31, 2023. Each week during the study, the project lead entered de-identified data about the number of screening emails sent, the number of emails sent and read, the number of interested patients, the number of meetings with the nurse champions identified by ACP note, the number of advance directives, and the number of ACP notes by providers. During the project, it became apparent that patients had advance directives that were not scanned into the chart. These patients were encouraged to bring their advance directives into the clinic. The number of patients with an advance directive not scanned in the chart was tracked. If these patients brought in an advance directive, this event was recorded. For the balancing measures, a survey designed in RedCap (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2019) with the AIM, IAM, and FIM assessments was distributed to providers and nurse champions at the beginning and end of the study. No personally identifying information was collected. Data were stored within the secure, password protected RedCap database (Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2009).

#### Results

#### **Demographics**

The study team completed 1140 chart reviews. The pre-project chart reviews included 577 charts and the post-project review included 563 charts. The population identified as a majority white (n=723, 63.3%), did not identify as Hispanic (n=1095, 96.1%) and were female (n=1135, 99.5%). The mean patient age was 58.5 years. The most common diagnosis was stage 1 breast cancer (n=435, 38.2%). Reference Appendix G, Table G1 for complete demographics delineated by time point. Of patients with advance directives, a majority were white (n=92, 71.3%) and the largest age group was 65-74 (n=48, 37.2%). Among those with an advance directive, the most common diagnosis was stage 1 cancer (n=45, 34.9%). Of patients with an ACP note, a majority were white (n=129, 59.2%). Further, for patients with an ACP note, the

largest age group was 65-74 (n=83, 38.0%) and a majority had stage 4 cancer (n=129, 59.2%). When examined by proportion, percentage of advance directive by race were similar, while Black patients had more ACP notes. Asian and Hispanic patients had fewer advance directives. See Appendix G, Figures G1-G8 for visual representations of descriptive statistics by time point. Aim #1

For aim 1, the project team analyzed the process through control charts of weekly advance directives and ACP notes for special cause (See Appendix G, Figures G9 and G10). For advance directives, special cause was found at three time points above the upper control limit after project implementation. Special cause was also evident for ACP notes at three time points with two out of three successive points exceeding two standard deviations from the mean. For ACP notes, special cause appeared once prior to project initiation and twice after-project implementation.

Throughout the project, the team tracked process measures. The project lead distributed 416 screening emails from 9/21/23-12/21/23 for patients being seen 9/25/23-12/31/23. Of the patient population seen by two physicians, 23 did not receive a screening email as they did not have the patient portal established and 10 did not receive a screening email as their designated language in the medical record was not English. For objective 1, 85.8% of patients read the screening emails in the portal (n=357). This met the goal of 75%. Of patients who received a screening email, 8.4% responded as interested in meeting with a nurse (n=35). This did not meet the goal of 25%. Of note, patients responded to emails to notify the project lead that they already had an advance directive, but it was not scanned into the chart. Figure G11 in Appendix G captured this phenomenon. Among patients who were interested in meeting with the nurse champion, 40% (n=14) had a documented note demonstrating an in-person nurse-led ACP

#### ADVANCE CARE PLANNING

meeting, which did not meet the goal of 75%. However, the nursing notes did not capture the interested patients who brought an advance directive from home. When those patients were included as meeting with nurses, the percentage of interested patients who met with nurse champions increased to 48.6%. Of the 17 patients who met with the nurse champions, including three patients who brought their advance directive from home without a documented note, 29.4% had a documented advance directive by the end of the project (n=5). This met the goal of 25%. One additional patient completed an advance directive while meeting with their provider during the project. Among patients who had an advance directive after meeting with the nurse champions or with project physicians, 100% were scanned into the EHR (n=6), which met the established goal of 100%. For 17 patients who met with nurse champions, including the three patients who brought their advance directive from home, 35.3% had an ACP note documented with their provider, which met the goal of 25%. See Appendix G, Figure G12 for visual representation of this process flow.

#### Aim # 2

The secondary aim of this project was to investigate the feasibility, acceptability, and appropriateness of a nurse-driven ACP workflow. Before implementation of the project (n=2), the mean AIM score was 20. The mean FIM score was 20. The mean IAM score was 19.5. After implementation of the project (n=3), the mean AIM score was 20, the mean FIM score was 20, and the mean IAM score was 20.

# Aim #3

The final aim of this project was to increase the number of advance directives and ACP notes following implementation of the project compared to baseline numbers. The outcome measures were evaluated by percentage increase from baseline.
The project team anticipated that advance directive documentation in the EHR would increase by 20% to 11.856% of patients in a population of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023. At baseline, 57 patients had advance directives in the EHR, which was 9.88% of charts reviewed. After project implementation, 72 patients had advance directives in the EHR, which was 12.8% of charts reviewed. This outcome met project aims. Of the 72 advance directives, 6 were new advance directives scanned into the medical record related to the project.

The project team anticipated that ACP notes would increase by 20% to 21.42% of breast cancer patients served by two physicians by December 31, 2023. At baseline 103 patients had ACP notes by providers or nurses, which represented 17.85% of all charts reviewed. Of the baseline ACP notes, 100% were completed by providers. After the project, 115 patients had an ACP by providers or nurses, which was 20.43% of all chart reviews. This did not meet project objectives. Of the post-project ACP notes, 87.8% (n=101) were completed solely by providers, 8.7% (n=10) were completed solely by nurses, and 3.5% (n=4) had notes from both nurses and providers.

## Discussion

An outpatient nurse-driven ACP workflow was associated with increased advance directives and ACP notes. While ACP notes did not quite meet project objectives, the impact of the workflow on this outcome may become more evident over a longer period of time. With the repetitive nature of ACP, provider notes may be delayed by months to years (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Levy et al., 2016; Peppercorn et al., 2011; Starr et al., 2019). The workflow was feasible, appropriate, and acceptable to clinic staff. The control chart for advance directives demonstrated evidence of process change following workflow implementation. Near the end of the project period, the new process began to stabilize at a higher mean. With more time, the advance directive process may continue to stabilize (Benneyan et al., 2003; NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2009). In weeks where advance directive numbers fell, possible influences included one provider absent from clinic, holidays, and limited time for nurses. Special cause was also noted for ACP notes. However, special cause was evident both before and after the intervention. The control chart for ACP notes was more chaotic than for advance directives. Because ACP is a repetitive process with numerous touchpoints by members of the interdisciplinary team, stabilization of this process may take more time than for advance directives (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Levy et al., 2016; Peppercorn et al., 2011; Starr et al., 2019).

#### **Implications for Practice**

Evaluation of the workflow process revealed several components that should be maintained in future iterations. Screening emails through the patient portal were an effective means to reach patients, which aligned with pre-existing literature (Brungardt et al., 2019; Halpert et al., 2022). However, manually sending weekly emails to every patient was not sustainable. Future iterations could examine automated emails to patients triggered yearly.

As evidenced by the increased ACP notes and advance directives for patients who met with nurses, trained nurse champions were effective members of the interdisciplinary ACP team. This finding confirmed pre-existing knowledge in the literature (Bakitas et al., 2017; Desai et al., 2018; Epstein et al., 2019; Feaster et al., 2023; Gilligan et al., 2017; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Schenker et al., 2015; Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). Nurses should be empowered to lead ACP conversations with patients as members of the interdisciplinary team. Having nurses initiate the conversation removes the stigmatization associated with ACP as nurses do not prognosticate in these meetings. Patients may feel more comfortable discussing ACP with nurses (Epstein et al., 2019; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018). When patients require further ACP, the initial conversation with nurses builds the foundation for future ACP with other members of the interdisciplinary team (Epstein et al., 2019; Schulman-Green et al., 2018; Sinclair et al., 2017; Walczak et al., 2017). ACP conversations must occur in collaboration with other members of the interdisciplinary team to spread the workload and enable repeated conversations (Gilligan et al., 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2013; Peppercorn et al., 2011). Further, the interdisciplinary team is not limited to nurses, physicians, and social workers. Administrative assistants were essential members of the team in this project. The inclusion of administrative assistants in the workflow ensured advance directives were appropriately scanned into the chart.

The project uncovered several areas for clinical improvement. Patients have advance directives, but they are not scanned into the chart. Clinics must establish protocols to capture preexisting advance directives. When advance directives were scanned in the chart outside of this project, they were labeled inconsistently and difficult to find. Without standardization, healthcare professionals cannot efficiently reference an advance directive during later ACP discussions (Dillon et al., 2017; Huber et al., 2018; Lucas & Dimmer, 2021; Myers et al., 2018). The health system does have a means for patients to upload their advance directives into the medical record through the patient portal. In discussions with staff, patients generally do not use this resource. A systematic process for patients independently uploading their advance directives could supplement the interdisciplinary workflow where administrative assistants upload advance directives into the chart. Instructions for uploading could be included in screening emails.

Further, in future iterations, the standardized nursing note should include a means to document meeting with patients who bring their advance directive from home to ensure accurate process measures. Addressing this phenomenon presents an exciting avenue for future QI work.

Patient interest in ACP was low. Low patient interest may be related to stigmatization of ACP and limited patient knowledge about ACP (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; McDonald et al., 2017). Other projects have educated patients via different methods, such as the videos, handouts, presentations, group classes, and tailored in-person educational discussions. (Bakitas et al., 2017; Epstein et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Obel et al., 2014; Ólafsdóttir et al., 2018; Rabow et al., 2019; Sulmasy et al., 2017). These methods may be utilized in future cycles.

## **Implications for Healthcare Policy**

This project reinforced the importance of interdisciplinary collaboration with ACP as evidenced by increased ACP notes by physicians and nurses following project implementation. Under current Medicare policy, only physicians or advance practice providers can bill for ACP (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2023). Proposed legislation expands ACP billing to social workers and waives the co-insurance and deductible for these visits (Collins & Warner, 2022). Politicians should expand the proposed legislation to include nursing interactions in the coding for reimbursement for ACP.

#### **Implications for Executive Leadership**

Inadequate and inconsistent healthcare provider communication training is widely recognized as a barrier to ACP (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Buss et al., 2011; Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues & Institute of Medicine, 2015; Granek et al., 2013; Lesperance et al., 2014; Parajuli & Hupcey, 2021). This

project reinforced that training nurses in ACP communication facilitated ACP. Nurses effectively guided patients through the OCW document as evidenced by the percentage of patients with an advance directive after meeting with nurses. The practice site does offer communication classes on end-of-life and serious illness, but these are not required. Executive leadership should consider partnering with the collaborating nursing and medical schools to introduce universal ACP education (Agarwal & Epstein, 2018; Bernacki et al., 2014; Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues & Institute of Medicine, 2015).

In discussions with the nurse champions, the nursing role in clinic was relatively new. Nursing responsibilities varied based on physician collaborator. Some nurses were present every day in clinic while others spent more time triaging patients. This inconsistency may explain the low rate of interested patients meeting with nurses. For example, if one nurse was out sick, differing roles prevented cross coverage. Executive leaders should consider a more standardized role for nursing in future iterations to ensure nurses are available in clinic to meet with patients.

Executive leadership should consider the potential cost-savings from early ACP. In the long-term, revenue may be generated by increased coding for ACP (Tsai & Taylor, 2018). In other studies, cost savings with early ACP ranged from \$9500 to \$20000 with decreased acute care utilization at end-of-life affiliated (Bond et al., 2018; Patel et al., 2018). While this project did not complete a cost-benefit analysis, future cycles could complete a cost-benefit analysis.

## **Implications for Quality/Safety**

ACP can improve healthcare quality related to end-of-life. While it was not within the scope of this project to track quality outcomes, future projects could evaluate the six pillars of healthcare quality (Institute of Medicine, 2001). Anecdotally, patients did report to nurse champions that they appreciated completing the document in clinic, which made the intervention

40

timely and patient-centered. The project was effective as it was associated with increased advance directives and ACP notes. Safety and efficiency could be studied in future projects by evaluating care utilization at end-of-life and goal-concordant care. Further research must identify means to make ACP equitable. Based on the data from this project, Asian and Hispanic patients had lower percentages of advance directives than other racial and ethnic groups. Black patients had a higher percentage of ACP notes than white patients, which could reflect more advanced disease (Brazee et al., 2021) (Appendix G, Tables G5-G8). Cancer care inequities are recognized in the literature from diagnosis to death (Brazee et al., 2021; Elmore & Fayanju, 2023; National Cancer Institute, 2024). Future research should address cancer care inequities and identify means to ensure workflows are acceptable and appropriate to a diverse patient population.

## Plans for Sustainability and Future Scholarship

This project was the first iteration of a PDSA cycle. The next PDSA cycle should maintain many aspects of the project and adopt changes based on the findings of this project. Nurse training, interdisciplinary conversations, and scanning of advance directives should be maintained. Standardized notes should include a means to document the delivery of pre-existing advance directives. In future PDSA cycles, automated emails through the patient portal would be ideal. The screening email should also include information for patients to independently upload their advance directives. Discussions with IT and the Innovation Center are ongoing to establish ways to send automated emails. Before they will establish automated emails, IT and the Innovation Center require further proof of concept. To establish further proof of concept, discussions with other oncology clinics are ongoing about adopting the nurse-driven workflow.

The project was limited by the lack of witnesses to complete the advance directive in clinic. Healthcare professionals cannot serve as witnesses (PA General Assembly, 2006; State of

New Jersey Department of Health, 2023). Due to short-staffing, front-desk staff could not assist in the project. Most patients wanted to take the OCW document home to discuss with families before completing, which demonstrated the iterative nature of ACP. Having the patient witness and sign the document at home was a feasible adaptation of the workflow to address this limitation.

As a quality improvement project, the project had limited external validity. The project population was a majority female and white breast cancer patients. Future iterations should expand to a wider variety of clinics with more racial diversity and different diagnoses. Internal validity was limited by project design as a QI project. Since nearly all patients were included in the project without a control group, lack of control and confounders could have influenced outcomes of the project. The outcomes were not solely attributable to the intervention. Future research studies could more rigorously track outcomes, including the impact of the workflow on cost, hospice utilization, and inpatient hospitalization at end-of-life.

#### Conclusion

The outpatient nurse-driven workflow was found to be feasible, appropriate, and acceptable. The workflow empowered nurses to practice within their scope to complete advance directives with patients. These interactions were associated with an increase in both advance directives and ACP notes. Future iterations should maintain screening emails, trained nurse champions, and interdisciplinary collaboration. In the next PDSA cycle, patient education must be expanded. Patients should have an opportunity to scan their advance directive into their chart, particularly if patients are taking the advance directive home to be witnessed by friends and family. Nurses will need to document patients bringing their advance directive from home in the standard nursing note. Discussions are ongoing to expand the project into other clinics with the

final goal of screening all patients within the health system for an advance directive through an automated email. As evidenced by this DNP project, a nurse-driven workflow effectively offers patients early, repeated, and interdisciplinary ACP.

## References

- Agarwal, R., & Epstein, A. S. (2018). Advance care planning and end-of-life decision making for patients with cancer. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 34(3), 316-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2018.06.012</u>
- Aging with Dignity. (2021). *Five wishes*. Retrieved April 14, 2023, from https://www.fivewishes.org/five-wishes-sample.pdf
- American Cancer Society. (2022). *Cancer facts & figures 2022*. Retrieved November 16, 2022, from <u>https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-</u> <u>statistics/annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/2022/2022-cancer-facts-and-figures.pdf</u>
- Bakitas, M., Dionne-Odom, J. N., Jackson, L., Frost, J., Bishop, M. F., & Li, Z. (2017). "There were more decisions and more options than just yes or no": Evaluating a decision aid for advanced cancer patients and their family caregivers. *Palliative & Supportive Care, 15*(1), 44-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1478951516000596</u>
- Baldwin, T., & Capito, S. M. (n.d.). *Palliative care and hospice education and training act*.Retrieved April 14, 2023, from

https://www.baldwin.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/PCHETA\_one%20pager.pdf

Balestracci, D. (2019). Statistical tools for quality improvement. In D. Nash B., M. Joshi S., E.
Ransom R. & S. Ransom B. (Eds.), *The healthcare quality book: Vision, strategy and tools* (pp. 127-169). Health Administration Press; Association of University Programs in Health Administration.

- Benneyan, J. C., Lloyd, R. C., & Plsek, P. E. (2003). Statistical process control as a tool for research and healthcare improvement. *Quality & Safety in Health Care, 12*(6), 458-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/qhc.12.6.458</u>
- Bernacki, R., Paladino, J., Neville, B. A., Hutchings, M., Kavanagh, J., Geerse, O. P., Lakin, J., Sanders, J. J., Miller, K., Lipsitz, S., Gawande, A. A., & Block, S. D. (2019). Effect of the serious illness care program in outpatient oncology: A cluster randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 179(6), 751-759.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.0077

- Bernacki, R. E., Block, S. D., & American College of Physicians High Value Care Task Force. (2014). Communication about serious illness care goals: A review and synthesis of best practices. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(12), 1994-2003. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.5271
- Bond, W. F., Kim, M., Franciskovich, C. M., Weinberg, J. E., Svendsen, J. D., Fehr, L. S., Funk, A., Sawicki, R., & Asche, C. V. (2018). Advance care planning in an accountable care organization is associated with increased advanced directive documentation and decreased costs. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *21*(4), 489-502.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2017.0566

Boucher, J. E. (2021). Advance care planning: Having goals-of-care conversations in oncology nursing. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *25*(3), 333-336.

https://doi.org/10.1188/21.CJON.333-336

- Brazee, R. L., Sereika, S. M., & Rosenzweig, M. Q. (2021). Prevalence, pattern, and probability for goals of care discussions among women diagnosed with metastatic breast cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice*, 15(3), 375-379. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-021-01022-w
- Brungardt, A., Daddato, A. E., Parnes, B., & Lum, H. D. (2019). Use of an ambulatory patient portal for advance care planning engagement. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine : JABFM*, 32(6), 925-930. <u>https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2019.06.190016</u>
- Buss, M. K., Lessen, D. S., Sullivan, A. M., Von Roenn, J., Arnold, R. M., & Block, S. D. (2011). Hematology/oncology fellows' training in palliative care: Results of a national survey. *Cancer*, 117(18), 4304-4311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25952</u>
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2023). *Billing and coding: Advance care planning*. Retrieved March 15, 2024, from <u>https://www.cms.gov/medicare-coverage-database/view/article.aspx?articleid=58664</u>
- City of Hope & National Cancer Institute. (2021). *Interprofessional communication curriculum*. City of Hope.
- Collins, S., & Warner, M. R. (2022). Collins, Warner introduce bipartisan, bicameral legislation to expand access to advance care planning. Retrieved March 15, 2024, from <u>https://www.collins.senate.gov/newsroom/collins-warner-introduce-bipartisan-bicamerallegislation-to-expand-access-to-advance-care-planning</u>

- Committee on Approaching Death: Addressing Key End of Life Issues, & Institute of Medicine. (2015). *Dying in America: Improving quality and honoring individual preferences near the end of life*. The National Academies Press.
- Cross, S. H., & Warraich, H. J. (2019). Changes in the place of death in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 381(24), 2369-2370. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1911892
- Danford, E., Fitzgerald, M., & McCool, K. (2019). *Let's get comfortable: Improving goals of care conversations*. Unpublished manuscript.
- Dang, D., Dearholt, S., L., Bissett, K., Ascenzi, J., & Whalen, M. (2022). Johns Hopkins evidence-based practice for nurses and healthcare professionals: Models & guidelines (4th ed.). Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing.
- Dartmouth Atlas Project. (2023). *End of life in cancer care*. Retrieved February 2, 2023, from <a href="https://www.dartmouthatlas.org/interactive-apps/end-of-life-cancer-care/">https://www.dartmouthatlas.org/interactive-apps/end-of-life-cancer-care/</a>
- Desai, A. V., Klimek, V. M., Chow, K., Epstein, A. S., Bernal, C., Anderson, K., Okpako, M., Rawlins-Duell, R., Kramer, D., Romano, D., Goldberg, J. I., & Nelson, J. E. (2018). 1-2-3 project: A quality improvement initiative to normalize and systematize palliative care for all patients with cancer in the outpatient clinic setting. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 14(12), e775-e785. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.18.00346</u>
- Dillon, E., Chuang, J., Gupta, A., Tapper, S., Lai, S., Yu, P., Ritchie, C., & Tai-Seale, M. (2017).Provider perspectives on advance care planning documentation in the electronic health

record: The experience of primary care providers and specialists using advance health-care directives and physician orders for life-sustaining treatment. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 34*(10), 918-924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909117693578</u>

- Elmore, L. C., & Fayanju, O. M. (2023). Addressing inequalities in breast cancer care delivery. Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America, 32(4), 799-810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soc.2023.05.009
- Epstein, A. S., Desai, A. V., Bernal, C., Romano, D., Wan, P. J., Okpako, M., Anderson, K., Chow, K., Kramer, D., Calderon, C., Klimek, V. V., Rawlins-Duell, R., Reidy, D. L., Goldberg, J. I., Cruz, E., & Nelson, J. E. (2019). Giving voice to patient values throughout cancer: A novel nurse-led intervention. *Journal of Pain & Symptom Management, 58*(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2019.04.028
- Feaster, A., Thrane, S. E., Shihabuddin, C. D., Sinnott, L., & Overcash, J. (2023). Educational intervention to enhance nursing comfort with advance care planning and documentation. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 27(1), 27-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1188/23.CJON.27-32</u>
- Gilligan, T., Coyle, N., Frankel, R. M., Berry, D. L., Bohlke, K., Epstein, R. M., Finlay, E., Jackson, V. A., Lathan, C. S., Loprinzi, C. L., Nguyen, L. H., Seigel, C., & Baile, W. F. (2017). Patient-clinician communication: American Society of Clinical Oncology consensus guideline. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 35(31), 3618-3632. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.75.2311

- Graham, I. D., Logan, J., Harrison, M. B., Straus, S. E., Tetroe, J., Caswell, W., & Robinson, N.
  (2006). Lost in knowledge translation: Time for a map? *The Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 26*(1), 13-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.47</u>
- Graham, I. D., Tetroe, J., & KT Theories Research Group. (2007). Some theoretical underpinnings of knowledge translation. *Academic Emergency Medicine: Official Journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine, 14*(11), 936-941.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1197/j.aem.2007.07.004">https://doi.org/10.1197/j.aem.2007.07.004</a>
- Granek, L., Krzyzanowska, M. K., Tozer, R., & Mazzotta, P. (2013). Oncologists' strategies and barriers to effective communication about the end of life. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 9(4), 129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.2012.000800</u>
- Halpert, K. D., Ward, K., & Sloane, P. D. (2022). Improving advance care planning documentation using reminders to patients and physicians: A longitudinal study in primary care. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 39*(1), 62-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/10499091211004890
- Hamel, L., Wu, B. & Brodie, M. (2017). Views and experiences with end-of-life medical care in the U.S. Retrieved April 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.kff.org/other/report/views-andexperiences-with-end-of-life-medical-care-in-the-u-s/</u>
- Harris, P. A., Taylor, R., Minor, B. L., Elliott, V., Fernandez, M., O'Neal, L., McLeod, L., Delacqua, G., Delacqua, F., Kirby, J., Duda, S. N., & REDCap Consortium. (2019). The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 95, 103208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208</u>

- Harris, P. A., Taylor, R., Thielke, R., Payne, J., Gonzalez, N., & Conde, J. G. (2009). Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 42(2), 377-381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010</u>
- Huber, M. T., Highland, J. D., Krishnamoorthi, V. R., & Tang, J. W. (2018). Utilizing the electronic health record to improve advance care planning: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care*, *35*(3), 532-541.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909117715217

IBM Corp. (2022). IBM SPSS statistics for windows [computer software]

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (2023). *The IHI triple aim*. Retrieved April 14, 2023, from <a href="https://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/TripleAim/Pages/default.aspx">https://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/TripleAim/Pages/default.aspx</a>

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (n.d.). *Model for improvement: Plan-do-study-act (PDSA) cycles*. Retrieved April 6, 2023, from <u>https://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/HowtoImprove/ScienceofImprovementTestingChanges</u> <u>.aspx#:~:text=The%20Plan%2DDo%2DStudy%2D,used%20for%20action%2Doriented%2</u> Olearning.

- Institute of Medicine. (2001). Crossing the quality chasm: A new health system for the 21st century. The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.17226/10027
- Institute of Medicine. (2013). *Delivering high-quality cancer care: Charting a new course for a system in crisis*. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/18359</u>

- Jaffe, R. C., Wickersham, A., & Babula, B. (2019). Overview of healthcare quality. In D. B.
  Nash, M. S. Joshi, E. R. Random & S. R. Ransom (Eds.), *The healthcare quality book: Vision, strategy and tools* (pp. 5-47). Health Administration Press Association of University
  Programs in Health Administration.
- Lesperance, M., Shannon, R., Pumphrey, P. K., Dunbar, E., Genther, R., Coleman, C. L., Tabano, M., Maurer, J., Vazquez, A., Capp, E., McMillan, J., Wilkerson, K., Robbins, G., Phillips, D. G., Howick, P., Solaun, C., Sloan, J., & Colón-Otero, G. (2014). Training midlevel providers on palliative care: Bringing advanced directives and symptom assessment and management to community oncology practices. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 31*(3), 237-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909113486335</u>
- Levy, M., Smith, T., Alvarez-Perez, A., Back, A., Baker, J. N., Beck, A. C., Block, S., Dalal, S., Dans, M., Fitch, T. R., Kapo, J., Kutner, J. S., Kvale, E., Misra, S., Mitchell, W., Portman, D. G., Sauer, T. M., Spiegel, D., Sutton, L., . . . Scavone, J. L. (2016). Palliative care version 1.2016. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network : JNCCN, 14*(1), 82-113. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2016.0009
- Lucas, A. H., & Dimmer, A. (2021). Palliative integration into ambulatory oncology: An advance care planning quality improvement project. *Journal of the Advanced Practitioner in Oncology*, 12(4), 376-386. <u>https://doi.org/10.6004/jadpro.2021.12.4.3</u>
- MacKenzie, M. A., Smith-Howell, E., Bomba, P. A., & Meghani, S. H. (2018). Respecting choices and related models of advance care planning: A systematic review of published

evidence. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 35*(6), 897-907. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909117745789

- McDonald, J. C., du Manoir, J. M., Kevork, N., Le, L. W., & Zimmermann, C. (2017). Advance directives in patients with advanced cancer receiving active treatment: Attitudes, prevalence, and barriers. *Supportive Care in Cancer : Official Journal of the Multinational Association* of Supportive Care in Cancer, 25(2), 523-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3433-6</u>
- Mea, R., LeGrand, E., Simon, B., Lightheart, E., Marturano, E., Maloney, K., & Landsburg, D. (2022). "Do you have an advance directive?": A collaboration between nurse and social work to increase advance directive documentation. Poster presented at the 47th Annual Oncology Nursing Society Congress, E127.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1188/22.ONF.E2

- Microsoft Corporation. (2018). Excel [computer software]
- Moran, K., Burson, R., & Conrad, D. (2020). *The Doctor of Nursing Practice project: A framework for success* (3rd ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Myers, J., Cosby, R., Gzik, D., Harle, I., Harrold, D., Incardona, N., & Walton, T. (2018).
  Provider tools for advance care planning and goals of care discussions: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 35*(8), 1123-1132.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909118760303
- National Cancer Institute. (2024). *Cancer disparities*. Retrieved April 12, 2024, from <a href="https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/disparities">https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/disparities</a>

- Nguyen, H. Q., Ruel, N., Macias, M., Borneman, T., Alian, M., Becher, M., Lee, K., & Ferrell, B. (2018). Translation and evaluation of a lung cancer, palliative care intervention for community practice. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 56(5), 709-718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.07.018
- NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement. (2009). A guide to creating and interpreting run and control charts: Turning data into information for improvement. Retrieved February 24, 2024, from <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/improvement-hub/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/sites/44/2017/11/A-guide-to-creating-and-interpreting-run-and-controlcharts.pdf</u>
- Obel, J., Brockstein, B., Marschke, M., Robicsek, A., Konchak, C., Sefa, M., Ziomek, N.,
  Benfield, T., Peterson, C., Gustafson, C., Eriksson, J., Harper, A., Tabachow, C., Raymond,
  M., & Hensing, T. (2014). Outpatient advance care planning for patients with metastatic
  cancer: A pilot quality improvement initiative. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *17*(11), 12311237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2014.0085</u>
- Ólafsdóttir, K. L., Jónsdóttir, H., Fridriksdóttir, N., Sigurdardóttir, V., & Haraldsdóttir, E. (2018). Integrating nurse-facilitated advance care planning for patients newly diagnosed with advanced lung cancer. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, *24*(4), 170-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijpn.2018.24.4.170</u>
- Oncology Nursing Society. (2015). Position statement on palliative care. Oncology Nursing Forum, 42(1), 11-12. <u>https://www.ons.org/pubs/article/235856/download</u>

- PA General Assembly. (2006). *Title 20. Chapter 54: Health care*. Retrieved April 6, 2023, from <a href="https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0">https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0</a> <a href="https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0">https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0</a> <a href="https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0">https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=20&div=0</a>
- Parajuli, J., & Hupcey, J. (2021). A systematic review on oncology nurses' knowledge on palliative care. *Cancer Nursing*, 44(5), E311-E322. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.00000000000817
- Patel, M. I., Sundaram, V., Desai, M., Periyakoil, V. S., Kahn, J. S., Bhattacharya, J., Asch, S. M., Milstein, A., & Bundorf, M. K. (2018). Effect of a lay health worker intervention on goals-of-care documentation and on health care use, costs, and satisfaction among patients with cancer: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncology*, *4*(10), 1359-1366. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.2446
- Peppercorn, J. M., Smith, T. J., Helft, P. R., Debono, D. J., Berry, S. R., Wollins, D. S., Hayes, D. M., Von Roenn, J. H., Schnipper, L. E., & American Society of Clinical Oncology. (2011). American Society of Clinical Oncology statement: Toward individualized care for patients with advanced cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 29*(6), 755-760. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.33.1744

Practice Site. (2018). A vision for the future: Division of hematology /oncology strategic plan 2018/2023. Retrieved April 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.practicesite.org/-</u> /media/academic%20departments/hematology/strategic%20plan/canfy1922134hemoncstrate gicplanbookletsinglepg.ashx?la=en Practice Site. (2020). Nursing annual report 2020. Unpublished manuscript.

Practice Site. (2021). General consent form. Practice Site.

- Practice Site. (2023). Advance directives. Retrieved April 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.practicesite.org/for-patients-and-visitors/patient-information/patient-rights-and-safety/advance-directives</u>
- Practice Site Human Research Protections Program. (n.d.). Informed consent form template (biomedical). <u>https://irb.practicesite.edu/resources/informed-consent-form-template-biomedical/</u>
- Rabow, M. W., McGowan, M., Small, R., Keyssar, R., & Rugo, H. S. (2019). Advance care planning in community: An evaluation of a pilot 2-session, nurse-led workshop. *The American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 36*(2), 143-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909118797612</u>
- Raskin, W., Harle, I., Hopman, W. M., & Booth, C. M. (2016). Prognosis, treatment benefit and goals of care: What do oncologists discuss with patients who have incurable cancer? *Clinical Oncology (Royal College of Radiologists (Great Britain), 28*(3), 209-214.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2015.11.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2015.11.011</a>
- Schenker, Y., White, D., Rosenzweig, M., Chu, E., Moore, C., Ellis, P., Nikolajski, P., Ford, C., Tiver, G., McCarthy, L., & Arnold, R. (2015). Care management by oncology nurses to address palliative care needs: A pilot trial to assess feasibility, acceptability, and perceived

effectiveness of the CONNECT intervention. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *18*(3), 232-240. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2014.0325

- Schmidt, N. A., & Brown, J. M. (2022). *Evidence-based practice for nurses: Appraisal and application of research* (5th ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Schulman-Green, D., Smith, C. B., Lin, J. J., Feder, S., & Bickell, N. A. (2018). Oncologists' and patients' perceptions of initial, intermediate, and final goals of care conversations. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 55(3), 890-896.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.09.024

- Silveira, M. J., Kim, S. Y. H., & Langa, K. M. (2010). Advance directives and outcomes of surrogate decision making before death. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 362(13), 1211-1218. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa0907901</u>
- Sinclair, C., Auret, K. A., Evans, S. F., Williamson, F., Dormer, S., Wilkinson, A., Greeve, K., Koay, A., Price, D., & Brims, F. (2017). Advance care planning uptake among patients with severe lung disease: A randomised patient preference trial of a nurse-led, facilitated advance care planning intervention. *BMJ Open*, 7(2), e013415-013415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013415</u>
- Starr, L. T., Ulrich, C. M., Corey, K. L., & Meghani, S. H. (2019). Associations among end-oflife discussions, health-care utilization, and costs in persons with advanced cancer: A systematic review. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine*, 36(10), 913-926. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909119848148</u>

- State of New Jersey Department of Health. (2023). *Advance directive*. Retrieved April 6, 2023, from <u>https://www.nj.gov/health/advancedirective/ad/forums-</u> <u>faqs/#:~:text=Do%20I%20need%20a%20witness,sign%20and%20date%20the%20documen</u> <u>t.</u>
- Sudore, R. L., Lum, H. D., You, J. J., Hanson, L. C., Meier, D. E., Pantilat, S. Z., Matlock, D. D., Rietjens, J. A. C., Korfage, I. J., Ritchie, C. S., Kutner, J. S., Teno, J. M., Thomas, J., McMahan, R. D., & Heyland, D. K. (2017). Defining advance care planning for adults: A consensus definition from a multidisciplinary Delphi panel. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *53*(5), 821-832.e1.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.12.331

- Sulmasy, D. P., Hughes, M. T., Yenokyan, G., Kub, J., Terry, P. B., Astrow, A. B., Johnson, J. A., Ho, G., & Nolan, M. T. (2017). The trial of ascertaining individual preferences for loved ones' role in end-of-life decisions (TAILORED) study: A randomized controlled trial to improve surrogate decision making. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 54*(4), 455-465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.07.004
- Tsai, G., & Taylor, D. H. (2018). Advance care planning in Medicare: An early look at the impact of new reimbursement on billing and clinical practice. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care, 8*(1), 49-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjspcare-2016-001181</u>
- Walczak, A., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H. N., Davidson, P. M., Young, J., Epstein, R. M., Costa, D. S. J., & Clayton, J. M. (2017). Encouraging early discussion of life expectancy and end-of-life care: A randomised controlled trial of a nurse-led communication support

program for patients and caregivers. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 67, 31-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.10.008

- Warner, M. R., Collins, S. & Blumenauer, E. (2022, September 16,). Warner, Collins & Blumenauer introduce bipartisan, bicameral legislation to expand access to advance care planning. Retrieved November 23, 2022, from
   <u>https://www.warner.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2022/9/warner-collins- blumenauerintroduce-bipartisan-bicameral-legislation-to-expand-access-to-advance-care-planning</u>
- Weiner, B. J., Lewis, C. C., Stanick, C., Powell, B. J., Dorsey, C. N., Clary, A. S., Boynton, M. H., & Halko, H. (2017). Psychometric assessment of three newly developed implementation outcome measures. *Implementation Science: IS*, 12(1), 108-3.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0635-3">https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0635-3</a>
- Zakhour, M., LaBrant, L., Rimel, B. J., Walsh, C. S., Li, A. J., Karlan, B. Y., & Cass, I. (2015).
   Too much, too late: Aggressive measures and the timing of end of life care discussions in women with gynecologic malignancies. *Gynecologic Oncology*, *138*(2), 383-387.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.06.001</u>

#### Appendix A

## **Our Care Wishes Document**









ut mo				
NAME FIRST	LAST		DATE OF BI	RTH
sion Maker(s)				
Primary Decision Maker				
PRIMARY DECISION MAKER'S NAME FIRST	LAST		RELATIONS TO ME	HIP
ADDRESS STREET	/ CITY		/ STATE	/ ZIP
CONTACT INFO EMAIL		PHONE		
Secondary Decision Maker				
SECONDARY DECISION MAKER'S NAME FIRST	LAST		RELATIONS TO ME	HIP
ADDRESS STREET	/ CITY		/ STATE	/ ZIP
CONTACT INFO EMAIL		PHONE		



our care wishes		l kaine. I kaldanen kaadek erren daaisis	
Organ Donation	barmless and indemnify them against	t any claim for their good faith actio	n maker and my health care providers ons in recognizing my bealth care
	decision maker's authority or in follow	wing my treatment instructions.	
Donating your organs after you die can help save lives. A single person who chooses to donate organs after death can help save as many as 10 people. It's a way to give back and support others.	I, baving carefully read this document revoking all previous health care pow	t, bave signed it this da wers of attorney and health care tree	y of, the test of test
Everyone can sign up for organ donation and most people choose this option, regardless of age or illness. Even people with serious medical illnesses can donate their organs.	YOUR SIGNATURE (SIGN HERE) 		
	(PRINT HERE)		
Our Care Wishes recommends choosing to donate your organs so you can help save or improve other people's lives.	WITNESSES WITNESSES MUST BE AT LEAST 18 YEARS OF AC CADE DECISION MARKER OF MEANTH CADE BROW	GE, KNOW YOU, AND SEE YOU SIGN THIS FO	DRM. WITNESSES CANNOT BE YOUR HEALTH
Select one that applies:	GARE DECISION MAKER OR REALTH GARE PROT	WIJER.	
After I die, I would like to donate any organs that can belp comment die . OR.	By signing, I promise that	s FULL NAME	not forced to sign it.
	WITNESS #1 SIGNATURE		
- OR - I choose NOT to donate any of my organs. (CHECK BOX IF APPLIES)	FIRST NAME:	LAST NAME	
	CITY	STATE	ZIP CODE
	WITNESS #2 SIGNATURE		
	FIRST NAME:	LAST NAME	
	CITY	STATE	ZIP CODE

*Note:* Permission for use granted by designer (M. Van Der Tuyn, personal communication, April 13, 2023). Citations: Practice Site, 2023; Mea et al., 2022

## Appendix **B**

## **External and Internal Evaluations**

## Figure B1

## Driver Diagram



# Figure B2

# SWOT Analysis

	Helpful	Harmful			
	To achieving the objective	To achieving the objective			
Internal Origin {Attributes of the organization}	Strengths• Leadership support for nursing autonomy• Pre-existing ACP program inpatient• High patient volume• Physician experience in serious illness conversations• Train the trainer City of Hope Communication training• Integrated palliative care teams• Organizational focus on patient-centeredness and ACP• Standardized documentation in EHR• Existing telehealth capabilities	<ul> <li>Weaknesses</li> <li>Staffing</li> <li>Limited time for new projects</li> <li>Inconsistent practices for ACP dependent on physician</li> <li>Medical assistants not consistently assigned to clinic</li> <li>IT needs proof of concept before implementing changes</li> <li>Staff burnout and turnover</li> <li>Discomfort with ACP</li> </ul>			
<b>External Origin</b> {Attributes of the organization}	<ul> <li>Opportunities</li> <li>Establishing ACP as a nurse competency within the full scope of practice of an RN</li> <li>Political support</li> <li>Patient expectations for provider-initiated ACP</li> <li>Reimbursement codes for ACP</li> <li>Proven decreased costs with early ACP provides evidence for institutional support of the program.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Threats</li> <li>Avoidance of death conversations in society</li> <li>Expectation of life-prolonging care the norm</li> <li>Physician identity</li> <li>Normalization of late ACP</li> <li>Economic impacts of COVID</li> </ul>			

# Appendix C

# **Evidence Table**

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
1	Bakitas, M.A., et al. (2015). Early versus delayed initiation of concurrent palliative oncology care: Patient outcomes in the ENABLE III randomized controlled trial	Randomiz ed controlled trial, single blind	n=207 oncology patients seen at 4 outpatient clinics, Early group seen within 60 days of diagnosis, n=104, late group seen over 12 weeks after diagnosis, n=103.	ENABLE III where trained nurses had six weekly phone calls with patients guided by a manual. These sessions discussed advance care planning, life review, and symptom management.	No statistically significant difference in quality of life or length of life. Early ACP was associated with lower levels of hospitalization, ICU admissions, and ED visits at end-of-life, but did not reach statistical significance.	Baseline, 6 weeks, 12 weeks, 24 weeks, and every 12 weeks after until patient death or through study end. Quality of life (FACIT-Pal and QUAL-E) Depression (CES- D) One year survival Resource use and location of death	Small sample size that does not meet power increases the likelihood of type II error. The study may not have been long enough to detect significant changes. External generalizability may be limited because it was only studied in the New England area. Patients in the late group could have been referred to palliative care as standard care, which could dilute treatment impact.	Level I Low Quality	Main reason it is low quality is the sample size not meeting power.
2	Desai, A.V., et al. (2018). 1-2-3 project: A quality	Quality improvem ent	n=58, outpatient GI and MDS oncology	PDSA. Interdisciplinary intervention with later visits driven by nurses. Visit 1:	Discussions were determined to be feasible as they took 5-15 minutes to complete.	Feasibility measured via time for completion, completion of assessment, impact	As a quality improvement study, this study has limited contributions to	Level V High Quality	

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
	improvemen t initiative to normalize and systematize palliative care for all patients with cancer in the outpatient clinic setting		patients seen at 2 clinics.	Discuss palliative care and identify healthcare proxy with physician and nurse. Visit 2: Discuss understanding of treatment and illness with physician. Visit 3 and 4: Nurse-led discussion of patient values with a written summary of the ACP in the EHR. Nurses had targeting training and coaching from palliative care specialists	Health care proxy designation increased from 40% at baseline to 86% post- intervention.	on clinic volume, patient commitment to the protocol, and referrals to palliative care.' Healthcare proxy designated	generalized knowledge.		
3	Feaster, A., et al. (2023). Educational intervention to enhance nursing comfort with advance care planning and	Quality improvem ent.	n=8, nurses at an outpatient hematology practice. Patient chart review seen at the	PDSA. Nurses watched a training video, reviewed policies, and procedures, and watched a narrated presentation about ACP. They also participated in a small group	Advance directive documentation increased from 0 pre- intervention to 63 post-intervention. Nurses reported higher levels of comfort with ACP post-intervention	2 weeks prior to intervention and 6 weeks post intervention. Kolcaba Advance Directive Comfort Questionnaire	Small sample size with limited generalizability as limited to one practice.	Level V High Quality	

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
	documentati on		practice, pre- interventio n (n=103), post- interventio n (n=114).	meeting to discuss ACP.	with a large effect size.	Documented advance directive in the EHR.			
4	Epstein, A.S., et al. (2019). Giving voice to patient values throughout cancer: A novel nurse- led intervention	Quality Improvem ent	n=73 adult patients seen in the myelodyspl astic disorder outpatient clinic or two GI cancer outpatient clinics	PDSA. Oncology nurses received training from a palliative nurse practitioner focused on communication strategies and values discussions. Patients received an initial handout about ACP followed by two meetings with the nurse to develop a values summary and end-of-life planning. The summary was sent to the patient's oncologist to guide future ACP.	97% of patients found the nurse- driven approach acceptable. Nurses and doctors reported the program was efficient, feasible, and effective.	Three item acceptability questionnaire. Interviews with clinicians and patients about the feasibility and effectiveness.	The study has limited generalizability as it was limited to two types of cancer. Because the study is quality improvement, confounders were not controlled, which could have affected results.	Level V High Quality	Focus of this study was on normalizing the ACP discussion.
5	Gilligan, T., et al. (2017)	Consensu	n=47 studies in	Systematic review	Recommendations:	Studies were included that	Much of the	Level IV High	N/A
	Patient-	statement	literature	controlled trials.	initiate end-of-life	examined	topic is from	Ouality	
	clinician	statement	review of	systematic reviews	care discussions early	communication	quality	Zunnig	
	communicati		adult	guidelines, and	during the illness	between oncology	improvement, so it		
	on:		oncology	meta-analyses in	course using a	state of the shoology	was difficult to find		

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
	American Society of Clinical Oncology consensus guideline		patients. 23 experts participated in the first vote on the consensus with 19 participatin g in the final vote.	PubMed and the Cochrane Library. Modified Delphi consensus panel.	structured framework and include nurses in these discussions (recommendation strong). Clinicians should be trained in communication skills (strong).	patients and their providers.	extensive studies on ACP. Evidence had to be supplemented by expert opinion.		
6	Nguyen, H.Q., et al. (2018). Translation and evaluation of a lung cancer palliative care intervention for community practice.	Non- randomize d two- group prospectiv e sequential quasi- experimen tal design with tandem enrollmen t.	n=202, patients with lung cancer seen in 3 outpatient sites and their associated caregivers: interventio n group n=84; control group n=118. Caregiver n=122; interventio n group n=60; control group n=62.	After developing a care plan in consultation with an interdisciplinary team, nurses provided two tailored education sessions to patients and family caregivers including ACP and symptom management. Family caregivers received one extra session alone with the nurse. The nurse completed the intervention with a follow-up call for both patient and caregiver.	Advance directive documentation increased from 65% when exposed to general palliative care to 90% when exposed to the nurse- driven intervention. High rating of effectiveness of education by nurses. Improved quality of life scale scores for the intervention group at 1-month and 3-months as compared to the control group (p<0.01).	Baseline, one month post, and three months post: Quality of life measured by the FACT-L Spirituality distress as measured by FACT-SS. Distress measured by the distress thermometer. Healthcare utilization measured from medical records. Caregiver quality of life (City of Hope-QoL-Family Instrument),	Comparison group had already been exposed to palliative care, so levels of ACP documentation were already high before the intervention; this could diminish the difference between groups. This limits internal validity. Due to attrition, they were unable to meet power.	Level II Low Quality	Largely limited by sample size and attrition. Barely missed power.

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
						Preparedness Scale, Caregiver Burden Scale, Distress Thermometer.			
7	Lucas, A.H., & Dimmer, A. (2021). Palliative integration into ambulatory oncology: An advance care planning quality improvemen t project.	Quality Improvem ent	n=90 adult patients with advanced cancers seen in at clinics of 3 oncologists in an ambulatory oncology center	DMAIC. A clinical workflow of screening for interest in ACP through the supportive care and communication questionnaire, offering of an advance directive to patients by nurses during a clinical appointment, and follow-up with a clinical nurse specialist trained in palliative care. The workflow also included templated documentation in the electronic health record.	Evidence for nurse- driven approach. Also provides baseline numbers for evidence of current practice. At the start of the project, 17% of patients had an advance directive and 11% had a POLST. By the end of the study 58% of the patients had an advance directive (41% increase) and 40% had a POLST documented (29% increase). 88% of the patients had a documented surrogate decision maker at the end of the study (an increase by 45%). Decisional conflict decreased after meeting with the CNS with statistical significance (p<.05).	EHR review of advance directives, POLSTs, and documented preferred decision makers. SURE tool to assess decisional conflict before and after meeting with the CNS.	Confounders may be significant because the study was not controlled. Generalizability was limited because the participants were 91% white.	Level V High Quality	

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
8	Obel, J., et al. (2014). Outpatient advance care planning for patients with metastatic cancer: A pilot quality improvemen t study.	Quality improvem ent.	n=48 adult oncology patients with stage IV GI or thoracic cancers seen by two outpatient oncologists across 4 affiliated hospitals	PDSA. Oncology nurses, social workers, and providers were trained in ACP. On a patient's first visit, oncology nurses screened patients for interest in ACP and then shared findings with the oncologist who followed up with the patient and provided an ACP booklet. At the second visit, the nurse discussed the ACP guidebook with the patient. Documentation with standardized notes.	69% of patients completed an advance directive and 46% documented their code status. In a comparison group of historical controls, only 1% of patients had an advance directive or code status recorded outpatient. 40% of historical controls patients had an advance directive recorded during an inpatient stay and 65% had their code status documented on the inpatient stay. The study also includes information about current practices. At baseline, 2% of outpatients had an advance directive with 29% completed while inpatient. Baseline notes were not standardized and difficult to find.	EHR review of advance directives and code status orders.	While it was interesting that they compared the study findings to historical controls, the study was not really controlled because they do not compare the characteristic of the control group to the study group. This is expected in a quality improvement study but does increase the risk of selection bias and confounders. They did not assess the feasibility of the study by speaking with staff.	Level V High Quality	
9	Olafsdottir, K.L. et al. (2018).	Phenomen ological	n=/ patients with	ACP was integrated into the existing palliative	Patients reported the discussion should be completed early in	Semi-structured interviews with 6 phases of coding	While this study had excellent credibility.	Level III High Ouality	

Article numbe	e Author, date, r and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
	Integrating nurse- facilitated advance care planning for patients newly diagnosed with advanced lung cancer.	Qualitativ e Study	advanced lung cancer seen in the outpatient setting	nurse duties through a structured booklet. Patients had three sessions with the nurse to discuss ACP.	diagnosis. Using a structured booklet to guide the conversation was helpful and helped patients discuss ACP with their loved ones. Patients might avoid doing ACP because it is uncomfortable, and they want to protect their families.	based on thematic analysis.	confirmability, dependability, and transferability, the main limitation was the small sample size. The researchers never confirmed that data saturation was reached.		
10	Rabow, M.W. et al. (2019). Advance care planning in community: An evaluation of a pilot 2- session nurse-led workshop.	Quasi- experimen tal single group pre- post design. Mixed methods.	n=35 outpatient oncology patients	In the first workshop, nurses educated patients on ACP with a packet of information. At the second session, patients and nurses discussed quality of life, life support, and the Five Wishes form. If the Five Wishes form was completed, it was notarized and scanned into the medical record.	Nurse-led workshop was feasible and acceptable per qualitative analysis. Patients' ACP engagement was higher post- intervention (p<.001). 65.4% of participants signed a new advance directive. Evidence of a workflow with education of nurses, notarization, and scanning the advance directive into the EHR.	Before and after workshops completion: ACP engagement survey After workshop: Semi-structured interviews with patients. Number of advance directives	The small sample size limits increases the likelihood of a type II error. Confounders may be present due to lack of control.	Level III Good Quality	
11	Sinclair, C., et al. (2017). Advance	Randomiz ed controlled	n=149 patients with severe	Nurses trained in communication met with patients to	Advance directive documentation was 51% in the	Presence of an advance directive	The study did not meet power due to	Level I Low Quality	
Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
-------------------	--	--	---	---	---	---	---	----------------------------------	-------
	care planning uptake among patients with severe lung disease: A randomised patient preference trial of a nurse-led facilitated advance care planning intervention.	trial with preferenti al randomiza tion, not blinded.	lung disease seen in the outpatient setting, including lung cancer (n=41). Interventio n = 106, control =43	discuss goals and values, set a healthcare proxy, and complete an advance directive.	intervention group and 14% in the control group post- intervention (p<.001). Patients in the intervention group (72%) had more discussions about ACP with their doctors than the control group (47%).	Documentation of a decision maker Discussion of end- of-life with family members Discussion of end- of-life with doctors. Chart audits for ACP notes.	recruitment challenges. Allowing patient preference in randomization limits internal validity but could increase external validity. Data collection was not blinded and could lead to bias.		
12	Schenker, Y., et al. (2015). Care management by oncology nurses to address palliative care needs: A pilot trial to assess feasibility, acceptability , and perceived effectiveness of the CONNECT intervention	Quasi- experimen tal single group pretest, posttest design	n=23 adult oncology patients with solid metastatic tumors seen in the outpatient setting.	Nurses were trained in palliative care, including ACP. Nurses met monthly with patients to discuss their shared care plan and then follow up with oncologists.	Acceptability was high as no patients withdrew from the study. 94% of patients were satisfied with the intervention. Further, these patients perceived it was effective. 100% of oncologists found the program to support symptom management, encourage ACP, provide emotional support, and coordinate care. Feasibility was high	Feasibility: Intervention fidelity as assessed by checklist completion. Acceptability: Percent of patients who dropped out of the program. Patient satisfaction with the program. Effectiveness: Patient report of helpfulness of the intervention. Oncologist reports of symptom	The study did have risks to internal validity as it was a pilot study without randomization, blinding, and had limited control. External validity was limited because the study population was 96% white. Feasibility may have been more effectively measured by surveying nurses or measuring the amount of time	Level II Good Quality	

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
					as intervention fidelity was 95- 100%.	management, ACP, emotional support, and care coordination.	taken to complete the intervention.		
13	Sulmasy, D.P. (2017). The trial of ascertaining individual preferences for loved ones' role in end-of-life decisions (TAILORE D) study: A randomized controlled trial to improve surrogate decision making.	Randomiz ed controlled trial, not blinded	n=163, Outpatient GI oncology patients (n=97) and ALS (n=66) patients with a caregiver dyad	Nurse-driven meeting with patient and designated decision-maker to discuss patient values and assess congruence between the surrogate and patient. Control group received a handout on ACP and nutrition counseling.	Intervention group participants were more likely to endorse collaborative decision-making with their surrogate post- intervention when compared to the control group (p=.03).	At baseline and 8 weeks post- intervention: DCP scale to assess patient preferences for surrogate participation in decision making. Surrogate stress Surrogate self- efficacy Caregiver burden Surrogate satisfaction	This includes some data from non- cancer patients, but, per the study team, the outcomes did not vary between groups. Attrition bias from patient deaths. Short-term follow- up may have limited capture of differences.	Level I Good Quality	This study focuses on the surrogate more than the patient, but it does demonstrate that a nurse- driven intervention can affect ACP.
14	Walczak et al. (2017). Encouraging early discussion of life expectancy and end-of- life care: A randomised controlled trial of a	Single blind parallel group randomize d controlled trial	n=110; interventio n group = 61; control group = 49. Adult patients with advanced cancer seen in the outpatient	Two trained nurses offered one 45- minute communication support meeting focused on end-of- life in-person and one 15-minute telephone follow- up. These meetings included advance care planning.	Evidence for nurse- driven. Statistically significant difference in number of questions patients asked their providers about end-of-life care ( $p<0.05$ ). No statistically significant difference found in patient report of meeting	Baseline and 1 month post: Number of questions asked about end-of-life and goals of care in subsequent physician visits (based on analysis of audio recording).	Because the study did not reach the recommender sample size based on power (n=140), the risk of Type 2 error is increased. The study had high attrition rates, particularly in the intervention group. This threatens	Level I Low Quality	While this is a low-quality study because power was not met, there are very few studies that meet power in this population given the high death rate.

Article number	Author, date, and title	Type of evidence	Population, size, and setting	Intervention	Findings that help answer the EBP question	Measures used	Limitations	Evidence level and quality	Notes
	nurse-led communicati on support program for patients and caregivers.		setting affiliated with 6 cancer treatment centers.	Patients also received DVDs with information about advance care planning.	preferences, communication self- efficacy, or health- related quality of life (p>.05).	Patient report of meeting preferences for care (e.g., goal- concordant care). Communication self-efficacy (PEPPI). Quality of life (FACiT-Pal).	internal validity as those leaving the study or dying may have different characteristics than those remaining in the study. Contamination may have occurred between the intervention and control groups because oncologists saw patients in both groups and could have changed their approach to ACP based on the study.		

#### **Appendix D**

#### **Methods Materials**

*Consent Form – Adapted from Practice Site Human Research Protections Program (n.d.)* 

Protocol Title:	Increasing Early Patient-Centered Advance Care Planning in an Outpatient Oncology Clinic through a Nurse-Driven Workflow: A Quality Improvement Project
Principal	Ellen LeGrand
Investigator:	Address
	Phone Number

You are being invited to participate in a quality improvement study. Your participation is voluntary, and you should only participate if you completely understand what the study requires and what the risks of participation are. You should ask the study team any questions you have related to participating before agreeing to join the study. If you have any questions about your rights as a participant at any time before, during or after participation, please contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at (XXX) XXX-XXXX for assistance.

The quality improvement study is being conducted to investigate the feasibility, appropriateness, and acceptability of a nurse-driven workflow in an outpatient breast cancer clinic.

You are being asked to take part in a quality improvement study because you are participating in the nurse-driven workflow. Your participation is voluntary which means you can choose whether or not to participate.

If you agree to join the study, you will be asked to complete the following procedures: respond to two online surveys about the acceptability, feasibility, and appropriateness of the nurse-driven workflow.

Your participation will last for 4 months. The project lead may follow-up with you for recommendations for change in future iterations of the project.

You may not personally benefit from participation, but the project may help support patient outcomes related to advance care planning. The most common risks of participation are distress from considering end-of-life in patients and time commitment.

The alternative to participation is not completing the surveys. Participation or not participating in the study will not affect your employment. Please note that there are other factors to consider

before agreeing to participate such as additional procedures, use of your personal information, costs, and other possible risks not discussed here. If you are interested in participating, a member of the study team will review the full information with you. You are free to decline or stop participation at any time during or after the initial consenting process. If you decide to participate, you are free to leave the study at any time. You may do this by contacting the investigator noted at the beginning of this form. Withdrawal will not interfere with your employment.

There will be no compensation for participating in the survey. The survey will not cost you any money to participate.

Your information will be de-identified and stored on a secure, password protected server. Your information could be used to inform future iterations of the nurse workflow.

This study is expected to end after all participants have completed all the surveys, and all information has been collected. This study may also be stopped at any time because:

- The Primary Investigator feels it is necessary for the welfare, rights, or safety of participants. Such an action would not require your consent, but you will be informed if such a decision is made and the reason for this decision.
- The Sponsor or the study Principal Investigator has decided to stop the study.

If you have questions, concerns, or complaints regarding your participation in this quality improvement study or if you have any questions about your rights as a participant, you should speak with the Principal Investigator listed at the beginning of this form. If a member of the team cannot be reached or you want to talk to someone other than those working on the study, you may contact the IRB at the number at the beginning of this form.

If you decide to participate, you will be asked to complete the survey as evidence of consent to participation. A copy of the form will be given to you so that you can find contact information and answers to questions about the study.

## Figure D1

Process Map for Nurse-Driven Workflow



## Figure D2

Training Slides



# Objectives

- Understand concepts of advance care planning and advance directives
- Gain mastery of Our Care Wishes
- Adapt the workflow to clinical practice
- Apply communication strategies when discussing advance care planning
- Practice with Our Care Wishes

## Background

- Advance Care Planning Definition
- Advance Directive Definition
- Best Practices: Early and Repeated
- Barriers to Best Practice
  - Provider Time
  - Provider Training
  - · Patient Knowledge
  - Lack of Standardization
- The goal of Our Care Wishes is to initiate advance care planning conversations with patients to ensure we are treating our cancer patients in line with his/her/their values and wishes.
  - An introduction to facilitate later conversations.

## **Our Care Wishes**

- A document that can function as a Living Will, Healthcare Power of Attorney, and Empowerment Tool for patients to voice their goals.
- Developed at Practice Institution for use by Practice Institution providers and patients.
- Pages 1-9
  - Educational information
- ▶ Page 10
  - Power of Attorney: Names a health care proxy
    - Who should make decisions when the patient is unable to make decisions for themselves.
    - Does not take any rights away from patient
    - Should share document with decision makers
    - Helpful when facing complex family dynamics
- Page 11
  - Living Will: States personal values
    - What type of treatment do patients want?
    - Defining quality of life

# Our Care Wishes, cont'd

- Page 12
  - Continued living will
  - Code status
- Page 13
  - Organ donation
- Page 14
  - Signatures
  - Two witnesses create a legal document in PA and NJ.
  - Witnesses cannot be someone who could potential provider healthcare services to be patient.
- Free tool available in print: <u>https://www.practiceinstitute.org/-</u>/media/documents%20and%20audio/patient%20forms/health%20system/ocw\_print\_workbook\_ 2022.ashx?la=en.

# Logistics

- Patients screened for interest the week prior via email.
  - Nurse cc'd on email
- Nurse will meet with interested patient in-person before or after scheduled appointment with provider.
- Administrative assistants can witness document and scan into chart.
  - Alternatively, patients can take document to a notary. However, this is not necessary to make the document legal in PA and NJ.
- Nurse documents encounter in ACP tab regardless of outcome.
  - Smart Phrase: .ocwacptemp
- Nurse notifies provider of conversation, particularly with any concerns.



# **Documentation Example**

- Our Care Wishes Advance Care Planning
- This writer facilitated a conversation with patient and family utilizing the Our Care Wishes document.
- The interaction included: providing information, answering questions, following up on prior conversations, documenting the patient's wishes.
- Outcome(s) of the conversation: the patient identified a health care agent / surrogate decision-maker, the patient completed the document, the Our Care Wishes document was witnessed, and the completed document was uploaded to the Media tab/other
- ► The patient designated FAMILY MEMBER NAME as their health care agent.
- Follow up needs: None
- This writer informed the inpatient provider: Yes
- If the patient completed the Our Care Wishes document, this writer informed the outpatient provider as needed: Yes
- Narrative/Notes: This writer provided education about Our Care Wishes. Patient agreeable to completing document. Patient was tearful throughout conversation. Nurse provided support and validated feelings. Patient expressed that dying at home was important. Document was signed by two witnesses. Medical team updated.
- Sources
- Our Care Wishes document
- Policy 1-12-65 Advance Directives

# Questions???

## Practicing with the Document

- Opportunity for active role play.
  Select one participant as patient.
  - Select one participant as the nurse.

DEBRIEF

# Mindful Presence

Before Conversation	During the Conversation	After the Conversation
Comfortable with Self	Connect	Debrief
Know the Person	Be Vulnerable and Empathize	
Be in the Moment	Use Intuition	
	Affirm and Value	
	Provide Serenity and Silence	

# Effective Communication: Communication Needs of our Patients

- Sense of control
- Disclosure of feelings
- Verbalization of fears
- Discussion about meaning of life
- Loss of self



Izumi, 2017; Seccareccia et al., 2015; Stajduhar & Dionne-Odom, 2019

# Starting the Conversation: Ask-Tell-Ask





https://player.vimeo.com/video/434022634

# **Building Rapport**

#### What Numbing/Avoiding Feelings Can Look Like:

- Turning to avoidance when feeling uncomfortable
  - "I wanted you to have this document called "Our Care Wishes. Here it is. Let me know if you have any questions." \*Exits room\*
  - It's not a big deal to fill this out.
- Standing Instead of Sitting
  - Sitting shows patients you are willing to stay. You communicate you are willing to tolerate this discomfort and will not flee.
- Racing through the document.
- Using euphemisms for the word death.
- Asking "yes" or "no" questions when there is an opportunity to ask an open-ended question.



# NURSE





https://player.vimeo.com/video/433985726

# Good Phrases to Use in Times of Need

- If someone is showing a lot of emotion: "I know this feels really big right now. What feelings/fears are at the center while we talk about this?"
- If someone asks if they are getting this because they are dying: "Filling out this document does not mean that we anticipate you are dying or going to die. It is being used as a tool to help us learn about our patients beyond just their cancer. You have been very honest with me so I will pay you the same respect. We know that cancer has some really harsh treatments and side effects. My goal in completing this with you is just to learn about you and what is important to you in your care. I can recognize why it may bring up those fears."
- To end the conversation, ask the patient: "How are your head and your heart?"

# Practicing with the Document Again!

- Switch roles.
- ► Try using some of the tools we addressed in the second half of the presentation.

# Questions?

References
Agarwal, R., & Epstein, A.S. (2018). Advance care planning and end-of-life decision making for patients with cancers. Seminars in Oncology Nursing, 34(3), 316-326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2018.06.012.
Bernacki, R.E., Block, S.D. & American College of Physicians High Value Care Task Force. (2014). Communication about serious illness care goals: A review and synthesis of best practices. JAMA Internal Medicine, 174(12), 1994-2003. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.5271.
Gilligan, T., Coyle, N., Frankel, R. M., Berry, D. L., Bohlke, K., Epstein, R. M., Finlay, E., Jackson, V. A., Lathan, C. S., Loprinzi, C. L., Nguyen, L. H., Seigel, C., & Baile, W. F. (2017). Patient-clinician
communication: American Society of Clinical Oncology consensus guideline. Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 35(31), 3618-3632. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.75.2311
zumi, S. (2017). Advance care planning: The nurse's role. American Journal of Nursing, 117(6), 56-61. https://doi.org/10.1097/.01.NAJ.0000520255.65083.35.
McDonald, J. C., du Manoir, J. M., Kevork, N., Le, L. W., & Zimmermann, C. (2017). Advance directives in patients with advanced cancer receiving active treatment: Attitudes, prevalence, and barriers. Supportive
Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer, 25(2), 523-531. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3433-6
Obel, J., Brockstein, B., Marschke, M., Robicsek, A., Konchak, C., Sefa, M., Ziomek, N., Benfield, T., Peterson, C., Gustafson, C., Eriksson, J., Harper, A., Tabachow, C., Raymond, M., & Hensing, T. (2014).
Outpatient advance care planning for patients with metastatic cancer: A pilot quality improvement initiative. Journal of Palliative Medicine, 17(11), 1231-1237. https://doi.org/10.1089/ipm.2014.0085
Ólafsdóttir, K. L., Jónsdóttir, H., Fridriksdóttir, N., Sigurdardóttir, V., & Haraldsdóttir, E. (2018). Integrating nurse-facilitated advance care planning for patients newly diagnosed with advanced lung cancer. /
nternational Journal of Palliative Nursing, 24(4), 170-177. https://doi.org/10.12968/ijpn.2018.24.4.170
Raskin, W., Harle, I., Hopman, W. M., & Booth, C. M. (2016). Prognosis, treatment benefit and goals of care: What do oncologists discuss with patients who have incurable cancer? Clinical Oncology (Royal College
of Radiologists (Great Britain)), 28(3), 209-214. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.cion.2015.11.011
Seccareccia, D., Wentlandt, K., Kevork, N., Workentin, K. Blacker, S., Gagliese, L., Grossman, D., & Zimmerman, C. (2015). Communication and quality of care on palliative care units: A qualitative study. Journal of
Palliative Medicine, 18(9), 758-64. https://doi.org/10.1089/ipm.2014.0408.
Stajduhar, K., Dionne-Odom, J.N. (2019). Supporting families and family caregivers in palliative care. In B.R. Ferrel & J. Paice (Eds.) Oxford textbook of palliative nursing. Oxford University Press.
Sudore, R. L., Lum, H. D., You, J. J., Hanson, L. C., Meier, D. E., Pantilat, S. Z., Matlock, D. D., Rietjens, J. A. C., Korfage, I, J., Ritchie, C. S., Kutner, J. S., Teno, J.
M., Thomas, J., McMahan, R. D., & Heyland, D. K. (2017). Defining advance care planning for adults: A consensus definition from a multidisciplinary
Delphi panel. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 53(5), 821-832.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.12.331

*Note:* "The Interprofessional Communication Curriculum (ICC) Project is a national communication training program for interprofessional oncology clinicians by City of Hope (COH) designed to enhance communication skills in oncology. The ICC Project is funded by the National Cancer Institute (NCI). Further information about the ICC Project can be found at <a href="http://www.cityofhope.org/ICC">www.cityofhope.org/ICC</a>" (City of Hope & National Cancer Institute, 2021, pg. 1). Written approval of use obtained (H. Buller, personal communication, April 14, 2023).

Workflow in presentation differs from final workflow: updates occurred based on team feedback.

#### Screening Email

Dear {Patient Name},

As your healthcare team, we strive to provide patient-centered care. One of the ways patients can direct their own care is through advance care planning. Advance care planning involves discussing how to align your goals and values with future medical care. An advance directive is one way to identify a healthcare power of attorney and document your goals and values. A sample advance directive called Our Care Wishes is available at this link from Practice Institution: <u>https://www.practiceinstitute.org/for-patients-and-visitors/patient-information/patient-rights-and-safety/advance-directives</u>.

In order to normalize these conversations, we are offering all patients seen by Dr. {Last Name} an opportunity to discuss an advance directive with a nurse at your upcoming visit. If you are interested in meeting with the nurse, please respond to this message or notify your provider at your upcoming appointment.

#### Standardized Dot Phrase

This writer facilitated a conversation with patient {and family} utilizing the Our Care Wishes document.

The interaction included: {providing information, answering questions, following up on prior conversations, documenting the patient's wishes}.

Outcome(s) of the conversation: {the patient identified a health care agent / surrogate decisionmaker, the patient completed the document, the Our Care Wishes document was witnessed, and the completed document was uploaded to the Media tab/other}.

The patient designated {NAME} as their health care agent.

Follow up needs:

If the patient completed the Our Care Wishes document, this writer informed the outpatient

provider as needed: {Yes/No}

Narrative/Notes:

# Appendix E

#### **Data Collection Materials**

#### Table E1

Advance Directives Measure

Measure	Measure	Data Source	Sampling	<b>Timing/Frequency</b>	
	Type*		Method		
Number of advance	Outcome	Electronic	Epic	Baseline, Weekly,	
directives in the EHR.		health record	query/Manual	End of Project	
			extraction	_	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of advance directives scanned in the EHR.				
Denominator or	Number of patien	ts seen by the tw	vo providers		
Population***					
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent, Control Chart				
Goal/Benchmark	At least 20% above	ve baseline (goa	l: 11.856%) Eviden	ce of special cause.	

## Table E2

Number of ACP Notes by Physicians and Nurses

Measure	Measure	Data Source	Sampling	<b>Timing/Frequency</b>	
	Type*		Method		
Number of ACP notes by	Outcome	Electronic	Epic	Baseline, Weekly,	
physicians and nurses		health record	query/Manual	End of Project	
			extraction	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of ACP notes signed by physicians and nurses.				
Denominator or	Number of patien	ts seen by two p	articipating physici	ans	
Population***					
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent, Control Chart				
Goal/Benchmark	At least 20% above	ve baseline (goa	l: 21.42%), Evidend	ce of special cause.	

## Table E3

Screening Emails Leading to In-Person Interaction	ons
---	-----

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency	
Number of screening emails read	Process	Electronic health record	Epic query/Manual extraction	Weekly, End of Project	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of emails	s read.			
Denominator or Population***	Number of screening emails sent.				
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent				
Goal/Benchmark	75%				

## Table E4

#### Patient Interest

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency	
Number of patients interested per screening emails	Process	Electronic health record	Epic query/Manual extraction	Weekly, End of Project	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of patients responding interested				
Denominator or	Number of screen	ing emails sent			
Population***					
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent				
Goal/Benchmark	25%				

## Table E5

Number of Interested Patients Seen by Nurse Champions

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency	
Number of In-Person	Process	Electronic	Epic	Weekly, End of	
Interested Patients		nealth record	extraction	Project	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of nursing ACP notes supplemented by patients bringing advance directive from home				
Denominator or	Number of interes	sted patients			
Population***					
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent				
Goal/Benchmark	75%				

#### Table E6

Number of In-Person Interactions Leading to an Advance Directive

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency	
Number of in-person interactions that led to an advance directive	Process	Electronic health record	Epic query/Manual extraction	Weekly, End of Project	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of advance directives.				
Denominator or	Number of nursin	g ACP notes su	pplemented by pati	ents bringing	
Population***	advance directive from home				
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent				
Goal/Benchmark	25%	25%			

## Table E7

Scanned Advance Directives

Measure	Measure	Data Source	Sampling	<b>Timing/Frequency</b>
	Type*		Method	
Number of Scanned	Process	Electronic	Epic	Weekly, End of
Advance Directives per		health record	query/Manual	Project
Completed Advance			extraction	-
Directives				
Standard Measure?**	No			
Numerator	Number of advan	ce directives con	npleted	
Denominator or	Number of advan	ce directives sca	nned into the chart	
Population***				
Exclusions	None			
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent			
Goal/Benchmark	100%			

## Table E8

Interdisciplinary Collaboration

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency	
<i>Physician ACP notes per nursing ACP notes</i>	Process	Electronic health record	Epic query/Manual extraction	Weekly, End of Project	
Standard Measure?**	No				
Numerator	Number of physician ACP notes				
Denominator or	Number of nursin	ng ACP notes su	pplemented by pati	ents bringing	
Population***	advance directive	advance directive from home			
Exclusions	None				
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Percent				
Goal/Benchmark	25%	25%			

## Table E9

Project Feasibility

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency
Feasibility of Intervention Measure	Balancing	Physician and nurse Self-report	Survey	Beginning, End of Project
Standard Measure?**	Yes			
Numerator	Physician and nursing rating of feasibility			
Denominator or Population***	Involved physicians and nurses			
Exclusions	None			
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Raw Score			
Goal/Benchmark	Mean score >15, I	ntervention doe	s not become less f	easible over time.

# Table E10

# Project Acceptability

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency
Acceptability of Intervention Measure	Balancing	Physician and nurse self-report	Survey	Beginning, End of project
Standard Measure?**	Yes			
Numerator	Physician and nursing rating of acceptability of the intervention			
Denominator or	Involved physicia	ns and nurses		
Population***				
Exclusions	None			
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Raw Score			
Goal/Benchmark	Mean score $> 15$ ,	Mean score > 15, Intervention does not lose acceptability over time.		

## Table E11

Project Appropriateness

Measure	Measure Type*	Data Source	Sampling Method	Timing/Frequency
Intervention Appropriateness Measure	Balancing	Physician and nurse self-report	Survey	Beginning, End of Project
Standard Measure?**	Yes			
Numerator	Physician and nur	Physician and nursing rating of appropriateness of the intervention.		
Denominator or	Involved physicia	ns and nurses		
Population***				
Exclusions	None			
Calculation/Statistic(s)	Raw Score			
Goal/Benchmark	Means score >15,	Means score >15, Intervention does not lose acceptability over time.		

#### Table E12

#### Data Dictionary

Data Element	Data Label	Data Type	Definition/Purpose	Data Values & Coding
De-identified ID	id	Alpha- numeric	Each patient assigned a unique identification code.	N/A
Time of Data collection	Time	Categorical	To compare baseline to post-intervention.	1, baseline 2, post-project
Age of patient	Age	Continuous	To identify patient's age to allow comparison of advance directives and ACP notes based on age.	N/A
Age group of patient	Agroup	Categorical	Transformation of age from continuous variable to categorical to assist with descriptive statistics.	1, 18-24 2, 25-34 3, 35-44 4, 45-54 5, 55-64 6, 65-74 7, >75
Race of patient	Race	Categorical	To identify patient's race to allow	1, White 2, Black

			comparison of	3, American
			advance directives	Indian or
			and ACP notes	Alaska Native
			based on race.	4. Asian
				5 Native
				Hawaijan or
				Other Desifie
				Jalandar
				Islandel
				o, Other
				/, NOT
				Identified
If other race,	Other	Text	To identify if	N/A
identify			patient's describe	
			different race.	
Ethnicity of	Ethn	Categorical	To identify patient's	1, Hispanic or
patient			ethnicity to allow	Latino
-			comparison of	2, Not Hispanic
			advance directives	or Latino
			and ACP notes	99. Not
			based on ethnicity	Identified
Cancer stage of	Stage	Categorical	To identify natient's	1 Pre-
nationt	Bluge	Categoriear	concer stage to allow	Cancerous
patient			cancel stage to allow	$(a \in DCIS)$
			companson of	(e.g., DCIS)
			advance directives	2, Stage 1
			and ACP notes	3, Stage 2
			based on cancer	4, Stage 3
			stage.	5, Stage 4
				99, Not
				Identified
Does the patient	Ademr	Categorical	To identify which	1, Yes
have an advance			patients have an	0, No
directive scanned			advance directive in	
into the medical			the medical record	
record?			to compare baseline	
			and post-project. To	
			track the number of	
			advance directives	
			weekly Outcome	
			and Process	
			and Process	
Dese the start	N	Catalan 1	Traditional territory	1 V
Does the patient	N_acp	Categorical	To identify which	1, Yes
have a nursing			patients have a	U, NO
ACP note in the			nursing ACP note in	
medical record?			the medical record	
			to compare baseline	
			and post-project. To	

			track the number of nursing ACP notes weekly. Outcome	
			and Process Measures	
Does the patient have a physician ACP note in the medical record?	P_acp	Categorical	To identify which patients have physician ACP note in the medical record to compare baseline and post- project. To track the number physician ACP notes weekly. Outcome Measure	1, Yes 0, No
Did the ACP note occur before or after the project start?	Acpaft	Categorical	To identify if ACP occurred after patients received a screening email.	1, Before 0, After
Total number of screening emails sent per week	Screen	Continuous	To track the number of screening emails sent.	N/A
Patient response	Interest	Categorical	Did the patient respond as interested?	1, Yes 0, No
Total number of advance directives either in chart or per patient report weekly	Adyn	Categorical	Does the patient have an advance directive either by their report or scanned into the chart?	1, Yes 0, No
Total number of patients bringing advance directive from home without nursing note	Nonote	Categorical	Did the patient meet with the nurse to bring their advance directive from home without a nursing note?	1, Yes 0, No
Total number of advance directives scanned in the chart weekly	Chart	Categorical	Does the patient have an advance directive scanned in the chart?	1, Yes 0, No
Total number of physician ACP notes weekly	Раср	Categorical	Does the patient have an ACP note with the physician?	1, Yes 0, No

Total number of	Noshow	Continuous	To track the number	N/A
no-shows per			of no-shows per	
week			week to demonstrate	
			patient engagement.	
			Process Measures.	
Did the patient	read	Continuous	To track the number	1. Yes
read the email in		00111110005	of unread emails per	0 No
the portal?			week to demonstrate	
and bound t			patient engagement	
			with patient portal	
			Process Measures	
Nurse and	Role	Categorical	To identify if survey	1. Nurse
Physician AIM	Role	Curegonieur	respondents are a	2. Physician
FIM IAM			nurse or physician	2, 1 119 5101411
			Balancing Measure	
Acceptability	Aim1	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1. Completely
question 1		Cutegonieur	workflow meets my	disagree
question			approval	2 Disagree
			uppiovai.	3 Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4 Agree
				5 Completely
				agree
Acceptability	Aim2	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1 Completely
question 2		Curegonieur	workflow is	disagree
question 2			appealing to me	2 Disagree
			appearing to me.	3 Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4. Agree
				5 Completely
				agree
Accentability	Aim3	Categorical	I like the nurse-	1 Completely
question 3	7 Millo	Categoriear	driven workflow	disagree
question 5			diffen worknow.	2 Disagree
				2, Disagree
				nor disagree
				$\Lambda \Delta \text{gree}$
				5 Completely
				agree
Accentability	Aim/	Categorical	I welcome the nurse	1 Completely
question A	Allii4	Calegorical	driven workflow	disagree
			GIIVOII WOIKIIUW.	2 Disagree
				2, Disagice 3 Neither agree
				nor disagree
				1 A gree
				<ul><li>3, Neither agree</li><li>nor disagree</li><li>4, Agree</li></ul>

				5, Completely
				agree
Appropriateness	Iam1	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 1			workflow seems	disagree
-			fitting.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Appropriateness	Iam2	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 2			workflow seems	disagree
•			suitable.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Appropriateness	Iam3	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 3		_	workflow seems	disagree
-			applicable.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Appropriateness	Iam4	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 4			workflow seems like	disagree
			a good match.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Feasibility	Fim1	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 1			workflow seems	disagree
			implementable.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Feasibility	Fim2	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 2			workflow seems	disagree
			possible.	2, Disagree

				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Feasibility	Fim3	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 3			workflow seems	disagree
			doable.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Feasibility	Fim4	Categorical	The nurse-driven	1, Completely
question 4			workflow seems	disagree
			easy to use.	2, Disagree
				3, Neither agree
				nor disagree
				4, Agree
				5, Completely
				agree
Open ended	Com	Text	Please enter any	N/A
comments			comments or	
			suggestions for the	
			workflow, if any.	

*Note:* AIM, FIM, and IAM received written approval for use in this project (B. Weiner, personal communication, April 18, 2023; Weiner et al., 2017).

# Appendix F

## **GANTT Chart**

Task	Assigned To	Progress	Start	End	Summer 2023	Fall 2023	Spring 2024	
Pre-Implementation								
IRB Approval	Project Lead	100%	6/1/23	8/1/23				
Baseline Data	Project Lead	100%	8/1/23	9/1/23				
Collection	-							
Implementation								
Train Nurse	Project Lead,	100%	9/1/23	9/8/23				
Champions	Nurse Champions							
Train	Project Lead,	100%	9/1/23	9/8/23				
Administrative	Nurse							
Assistants	Champions							
Send	Project Lead	100%	9/14/23	12/7/23				
Standardized								
Emails								
Nurse	Nurse	100%	9/18/23	12/15/23				
Champions	Champions							
Meet with								
Patients		10001	0.11.0.100	10/100				
Monthly Team	Project Lead,	100%	9/18/23	12/15/23				
Check-ins	Nurse							
	Champions,							
Data Analysia	Physicialis							
Collect root	Droiget Logd	1000/	10/16/02	1/25/24				
intervention	Project Lead	100%	12/10/23	1/23/24				
data								
Data Analysis	Project Lead	100%	1/25/24	2/28/24				
Dissemination and Sustainability								
Completion of	Project Lead	100%	1/6/24	4/20/24				
Final Report	Troject Lead	10070	1/ 0/ 21	1/20/21				
Present	Project Lead	100%	4/1/24	4/28/24				
Findings	J. J							
Discuss next	Project Lead,	100%	4/1/24	4/28/24				
stages of	Nurse							
PDSA	Champions,							
	Physicians							

# Appendix G

#### Results

#### Table G1

# Patient Demographics by Time Point and Total

	Pre-Project (n=577)	Post-Project (n=563)	Total (n=1140)
Age Group			
18-24	1 (0.2%)	2 (0.4%)	3 (0.3%)
25-34	18 (3.1%)	22 (3.9%)	40 (3.5%)
35-44	74 (12.8%)	66 (11.7%)	140 (12.3%)
45-54	138 (23.9%)	128 (22.7%)	266 (23.3%)
55-64	137 (23.7%)	155 (27.5%)	292 (25.6%)
65-74	146 (25.3%)	132 (23.4%)	278 (24.4%)
>75	63 (10.9%)	58 (10.3%)	121 (10.6%)
Race			
White	365 (63.3%)	358 (63.6%)	723 (63.4%)
Black	147 (25.5%)	140 (24.9%)	287 (25.2%)
American Indian or Alaska Native	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Asian	30 (5.2%)	22 (3.9%)	52 (4.6%)
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0 (0%)	1 (0.2%)	1 (0.1%)
Other	15 (2.6%)	19 (3.4%)	34 (3.0%)
Not Identified	20 (3.5%)	23 (4.1%)	43 (3.8%)
Ethnicity			
Hispanic or Latino	12 (2.1%)	12 (2.2%)	24 (2.1%)
Not Hispanic or Latino	553 (95.8%)	542 (96.3%)	1095 (96.1%)
Not Identified	12 (2.1%)	9 (1.6%)	21 (1.8%)
Cancer Stage			
Precancerous (e.g., DCIS)	32 (5.5%)	33 (5.9%)	65 (5.7%)
Stage 1	223 (38.6%)	212 (37.7%)	435 (38.2%)
Stage 2	115 (19.9%)	104 (18.5%)	219 (19.2%)
Stage 3	66 (11.4%)	78 (13.9%)	144 (12.6%)
Stage 4	141 (24.4%)	136 (24.2)	277 (24.3%)
Sex			
Female	574 (99.5%)	561 (99.7%)	1035 (99.5%)
Male	3 (0.5%)	2 (0.3%)	5 (0.5%)

#### Figure G1



Percentage of Advance Directive by Age Group Pre-Project and Post-Project

Percentage of ACP Notes by Age Group Pre-Project and Post-Project



## Figure G3





Percentage of ACP Notes by Cancer Stage Pre-Project and Post-Project



## Figure G5



Percentage of Advance Directives by Race Pre-Project and Post-Project

Note: Outlier for Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander due to small group with advance directives





## Figure G7



Percentage of Advance Directives by Ethnicity Pre-Project and Post-Project

Percentage of ACP Notes by Ethnicity Pre-Project and Post-Project



## Figure G9



Control Chart: Percentage of Patients with Advance Directive in Chart per Week

Note: Special cause circled. Project start date identified via star.

#### Figure G10



Control Chart: Percentage of Patients with an ACP per Week

Note: Special cause circled. Project start date identified via star.

#### Figure G11

Reported Advance Directives Compared to Advance Directives in Chart per Week


## Figure G12

Process Measure Flow Chart

